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Yes (x)         No (  ) 

 

13. Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates: 

 

The  aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates is about P415 Million as of 

December 31, 2010 based on the closing price of CAC common shares at that date. 
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PART I – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. Business 
 
Business Development 
  
 The company began doing business upon its incorporation in 1959 as CONCRETE 
AGGREGATES, INC. (CAI).  Since then the company has supplied the construction industry with quality 
processed aggregates, ready mix concrete, bituminous concrete mix and pre-stressed/pre-cast concrete.  
In 1973, CAI merged with BUILD-ON AGGREGATES CORPORATION (BAC) and the resulting entity was 
named CONCRETE AGGREGATES CORPORATION (CAC).  CAC conducted its quarrying activities in 
Angono, Rizal, which is the source of the best aggregates for the construction industry. 
 
 In 1978, Ortigas & Company, Limited Partnership (OCLP) purchased a controlling interest in CAC 
and took over the management of the company. The direction of the company at that time was geared 
towards the acquisition of additional equipment and installation of new plants to enhance service facilities. 
A prestressed/precast plant was set up in 1980 and a Construction Services Division was formed in 1982.  
Ramrod Blocks was purchased in 1980 and was eventually renamed CAC Power Blocks.  The company 
then acquired Stressworld in 1989 and a Ready Mix Concrete (RMC) Plant was likewise installed to 
complement the prestressed/precast plant. 
 
 By 1995, significant efforts were made to beef up CAC’s resources to keep up with the demands 
of the construction industry. Towards the end of the year, purchases of vital equipment, machineries and 
capital expenditures (like setting up of satellite plants in strategic locations and various improvements in 
plant facilities) were done.  In the succeeding years, the equipment and facilities of CAC came to a total 
of two RMC plants, three Bituminous Concrete Mix (BCM) plants, four aggregates quarry/crushing plants 
and three prestressed/precast concrete plants. These provided jobs and opportunities to many 
employees. 
 
 However, the economic crisis that hit the country in 1998 significantly affected CAC’s business. 
Financial forecasts which perceived a steady path towards economic boom burst with the currency turmoil 
and debilitating high interest rates that prevailed for the past several years.  Amidst this precarious 
scenario, CAC took a calculated stance, whereby sales were limited to controllable levels. The volume of 
transactions dropped and this cut profitability, but receivables were maintained at a safe level. Moreover, 
the continuing slump in the construction and real estate industry which occurred at the end of 1997 
impelled the company to adopt cost-shortening actions, cutback policies, short and medium term 
objective re-evaluations and other fiscal measures to ensure stability and endurance. 
 
 The worsening economic crisis inevitably slowed down the construction industry and continued to 
bleed the company. The crisis eventually compelled the company to take drastic business decisions and 
measures.  Unfortunately, despite efforts to reduce operational costs and maintain viability of operations 
during these difficult times, these efforts remained insufficient to sustain the company’s workforce at that 
time. 
 
 In light of the situation, after a series of careful deliberations and considerations, the Board of 
Directors of CAC, in an emergency meeting held on September 14, 1999, unanimously passed and 
approved the resolution authorizing the company to undertake, due to heavy financial losses, the total 
and complete closure of the Engineering and Construction Division, composed of the following:  RMC, 
BCM, Concrete Products Group and Construction, without prejudice to any existing contracts and 
commitments, and the reorganization and restructuring of the remaining divisions to conform with the 
level of efficiency necessary to maintain the company’s viability and survival. 
 
 Business development for the next several years devolved and focused on the proper 
maintenance, repair and rehabilitation of the company’s four (4) crushing plants for more efficient 
production activities at the optimum level possible, where breakdown/downtime will be minimized if not 
totally eliminated; retooling to increase production hours; development of the quarry area to ensure 
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availability of materials or reserves for continuous processing by the crushing plants for the production of 
aggregates and its by-products. Special attention was given to intensify and pursue aggressive marketing 
campaigns, with the company attaining ISO certification to ensure quality of products and services and 
customer satisfaction. Environmental enhancement and protection were likewise meticulously advocated 
to ensure smooth and continuous operations.  In 2006, in addition to continuing its efforts in the above-
discussed areas, the company also intensified its research and development activities with the goal of 
introducing new products to the market.  
 

A significant event in the history of the company was the execution of a Management Agreement 
between the company and OCLP which was approved by the Board at a regular meeting held on August 
30, 2005. Pursuant to the requirements of Article 44 of the Corporation Code, the company called a 
Special Stockholders’ Meeting on January 24, 2006 for the purpose of approving the proposed 
Management Agreement.  On that date, all the proposed terms and conditions of the Management 
Agreement were approved unanimously by the stockholders present, representing more than 92% of the 
company’s outstanding capital stock. Thus, in 2006, the implementation of the terms and conditions of the 
Management Agreement began in earnest.  The Management Agreement was renewed through the 
execution by the company and OCLP of a new Management Agreement on October 28, 2010.  
 

In 2007, events once again took place which had a significant impact on the direction being taken 
by the company.  At a regular meeting held on June 18, 2007, the Board of Directors of the company 
authorized the conduct of a bidding to select an operator of its Angono quarry for a period of fifteen (15) 
years.  Three companies qualified to participate in the bidding of which two submitted formal bids on 
November 16, 2007.  On November 29, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors declared that the 
consortium of Republic Cement Corporation and Lafarge Holdings (Philippines), Inc. (the “Consortium”) 
won the bid for the right to operate the company’s Angono quarry.   
 

The declaration that the Consortium was the winning bidder was affirmed by the company’s 
stockholders during a special meeting held on January 18, 2008, including the execution of all 
agreements necessary to implement the foregoing.  After securing stockholders’ approval, the company 
and the Consortium entered into an Agreement on January 18, 2008, setting forth the actions to be taken 
by each party as well as the agreements to be executed by them in order to carry out their intentions. 
 

Complying with its obligations under the January 18, 2008 Agreement, the company incorporated 
Batong Angono Aggregates Corp. (BAAC).  Thereafter, the company and BAAC entered into an 
Operating Agreement on January 23, 2008, which became effective as of June 1, 2008.  On June 2, 
2008, the parties completed all the specified actions in the January 18, 2008 Agreement including the 
execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement, Trademark License Agreement and Transition Services 
Agreement by CAC and BAAC as well as the execution by CAC and the Consortium of a Share Purchase 
Agreement.  With the execution of the Share Purchase Agreement, the Consortium became the owner of 
100% of the outstanding capital stock of BAAC.   
 

Under the Operating Agreement, BAAC was granted the right to operate the Angono quarry for 
fifteen (15) years subject to the conditions indicated in the agreement, CAC’s Mineral Production Sharing 
Agreements (MPSAs) and its Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC).   
 
Business of Issuer 
 
Principal Products 
 
 Prior to the effectivity of the Operating Agreement with BAAC on June 1, 2008, the company 
directly operated its aggregates plants – the source of the company’s quality aggregates –  which are 
nestled at the foot of the mountains in the outskirts of Barangays San Isidro and San Roque, Angono, 
Rizal. Optimum workability was guaranteed because only well-graded aggregates, specifically, crushed 
and processed basalt rocks, are passed on to customers. The centralized in-pit crushing facilities were 
capable of feeding crushed materials to four plants and the combined output of these plants reached 
approximately 7,700 cubic meters per day. Rigid quality control played a hand in every aspect of the 
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Angono operations. Aggregates were carefully screened to secure the desired specifications, and 
thoroughly washed to remove any traces of organic impurities, which can affect and reduce the strength 
of concrete.  Available aggregates sizes were 3/4, 3/8, G-1, and S-1, which met the standards set by the 
Department of Public Works and Highways (DPWH) and the American Society for Testings and Materials 
(ASTM). CAC followed the guidelines set by the government to help ensure adequate supply of 
aggregates, while maintaining the best balance between social, environmental and economic 
considerations.   
 
 Upon assumption by BAAC as CAC’s quarry operator, CAC’s income from the quarry operations 
consists of the royalty payments made by BAAC at the rate agreed upon by the parties.  
 
Intellectual Property Rights 
 
 The company’s name and logo and its trademarks Blue Sand, Blue Sand and Device, Blue Sand 
Vibro and Device, Blue Rock and Blue Rock and device have been applied and/or registered with the 
Intellectual Property Office.  
 
New Product or Service 
 
 The company is currently developing the parcels of land owned by it in Sto. Tomas, Batangas into 
a leisure farm subdivision.   
 
Aggregates Industry 
 
 CAC belongs to a sector falling under the mining industry that produces aggregates stones from 
quarries, either from mountain rocks or river stones.  The company supplied aggregates for use in the 
production of ready-mix concrete and asphalt products. 
 
 Aggregates are a major component of concrete, and are used in the mixing of asphalt in road 
construction.  Ready-mix concrete and asphalt are extensively used in the construction of buildings, 
roads, and other infrastructure projects. 
 
Geographic Area 
 
 The market for the aggregates produced in the Angono quarry is defined largely by distance from 
the company’s plant.  The limit of the area of delivery is about 100 kilometers from the quarry site in 
Angono, Rizal. 
 
Contracts 
 

Management Agreement 
 

The previous five (5) year Management Agreement between CAC and OCLP expired on October 
31, 2010.  In view of its expiration, the Board of Directors of the company, in a regular meeting held on 
July 29, 2010, approved the renewal of the same through the execution of a new Management 
Agreement with OCLP. The new Management Agreement contains substantially the same terms and 
conditions as the previous agreement and similarly provides for the general management of and overall 
supervision of the affairs and business operations of the company, such as but not limited to the 
following:  strategic planning; domestic and international sales; marketing and distribution; real property 
management and development; accounting; finance; employee care and human resources development; 
information technology and information systems; audit and business process systems and controls; legal; 
and administrative services, including, without limitation, advisory and consulting services in relation to 
the supervision of independent auditors; the selection, retention and supervision of external legal counsel; 
the selection, retention and supervision of investment bankers or other financial advisors and such other 
consultants as OCLP may deem necessary in the conduct of its role as general managers of CAC. The 
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term of the new Management Agreement is five (5) years commencing on November 1, 2010 and ending 
on October 31, 2015. 
 

 Pursuant to the requirements of Article 44 of the Corporation Code, the company called a Special 
Stockholders’ Meeting on October 28, 2010 for the purpose of approving the proposed new Management 
Agreement.  On that date, all the proposed terms and conditions of the new Management Agreement 
were approved unanimously by the stockholders present, representing around 84.98% of the company’s 
outstanding capital stock. The favorable vote obtained was more than the 2/3 requirement of the law. 
Pursuant to the new Management Agreement which was executed on October 28, 2010, OCLP, through 
its managerial personnel seconded to CAC, continues to manage the key departments of the company 
such as finance, legal, information systems and information technology, human resources and internal 
audit. 
 
Operating Agreement 
  

As discussed above, CAC decided in 2007 to engage a third party to operate its quarry in 
Angono, Rizal through a bidding process and on November 29, 2007, its Board of Directors declared the 
Consortium as the winning bidder.  On January 18, 2008, the stockholders affirmed the declaration of the 
Consortium as the winning bidder and authorized all the transactions to be made to effect the turnover of 
the quarry operations to a third party operator.  Upon approval by the stockholders, the company 
executed an Agreement dated January 18, 2008 with the Consortium which outlined the transactions to 
be implemented by the parties.   
 

Thereafter, the company incorporated BAAC and the two parties subsequently entered into an 
Operating Agreement on January 23, 2008, which became effective as of June 1, 2008.  On June 2, 
2008, the Company and the Consortium completed all the specified actions in the January 18, 2008 
Agreement including the execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement, Trademark License Agreement 
and Transition Services Agreement by CAC and BAAC as well as the execution by CAC and the 
Consortium of a Share Purchase Agreement.  With the execution of the Share Purchase Agreement, the 
Consortium became the owner of 100% of BAAC. 
 
 The company formally turned over its quarry operations to BAAC on June 1, 2008.  Under the 
Operating Agreement, BAAC was granted the right to operate the Angono quarry for fifteen (15) years 
subject to the conditions indicated in the agreement, CAC’s MPSAs and the ECC.  In return, BAAC shall 
make periodic royalty payments to the company at a specified rate. 
 
Transactions with and/or dependence on related parties 

 
In terms of management, the company is dependent on the managers seconded by OCLP 

pursuant to the Management Agreement entered into by the company with OCLP (see discussion above).  
The Management Agreement between CAC and OCLP remains effective. 
 
Permits to Operate 
 
 CAC’s properties in Barangays San Isidro and San Roque, Angono, Rizal are owned by the 
company and covered by a number of transfer certificates of title (TCT), corresponding to an aggregate 
area of 212 hectares. Quarrying is allowed by virtue of two MPSAs entered into with the government, 
particularly:  MPSA No. 032-95-IV and MPSA No. 055-96-IV.   
 
 MPSA No. 032-95-IV, which has an effectivity date of June 15, 1995 and was amended on 
December 29, 1995, authorizes mining activities on three (3) mining claims, namely Basalt 1, Basalt 2 
and Basalt 3 for 25 years from effectivity. This MPSA covers an area of 192 hectares. MPSA No. 055-96-
IV has an effectivity date of November 15, 1996 and warrants mining in the mining claim Basalt 8 for the 
next 25 years therefrom. This MPSA covers an area of 19.99 hectares. 
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 In 1995, anticipating an increase in production without necessarily restructuring the existing 
plants, an ECC application was submitted to request permission to expand quarrying operations in Basalt 
8. Thereafter, an ECC (ECC-715-RI-302-95) was granted to CAC by the DENR on January 19, 1996. 
Anticipating higher demand in the succeeding years, the company embarked on a plant re-tooling 
program in the year 2000 to sustain the projected increase in production, and therefore was required to 
undergo the EIA System. The proceedings then resulted in the issuance of ECC No. 0009-526-302 on 
December 9, 2002 by the DENR for its Quarry Expansion and Plant Retooling Project, as amended by 
the Environmental Management Bureau (EMB) letter dated July 23, 2003.   As for CAC’s EPEP, the same 
was likewise approved and is presently being implemented. 
 
 Thereafter, in February 26, 2008, the Mines and Geosciences Bureau (MGB) of the DENR 
approved CAC’s application for an increase in its maximum allowable extraction rate for its Angono 
quarry when it issued ECC No. 0707-018-2230.  Under ECC No. 0707-018-2230, the Company’s 
allowable extraction rate was increased to 5.25 million metric tons (MMT) from 2.7 MMT.   
  

With the assumption by BAAC of quarry operations beginning June 1, 2008, the responsibility of 
securing the necessary permits and licenses are now with BAAC.  The Operating Agreement likewise 
requires BAAC to comply with the terms and conditions of the ECC as well as MPSA No. 032-95-IV and 
MPSA No. 055-96-IV on behalf of CAC. 
 
Major Business Risks 
 
 Risk management involves identification, assessment and mitigation of risks that threaten the 
company’s corporate objectives.  Risk management is a regular management accountability and is a key 
function to manage crisis, comply with good corporate governance standards, minimize business 
uncertainty, and exploit opportunities.  Among the many risks that an ordinary going concern faces, the 
following have been identified as major business risks based on the impact of the event, action or inaction 
thereto would have on the company, to wit: 
 
1. Compliance by BAAC with its obligations under the Operating Agreement. 
2. Compliance by BAAC with MPSA No. 032-95-IV and MPSA No. 055-96-IV on behalf of CAC. 
3. Compliance by BAAC with environmental requirements under applicable laws, CAC’s Environmental 

Compliance Certificate (ECC) and its Environmental Protection and Enhancement Program (EPEP). 
4. Compliance with listing disclosure requirements. 
 

 For purposes of risk identification and management, major risks are defined as critical events but, 
with proper management monitoring, can be endured by the company. 

 
 CAC does its risk management by going through the following processes: 
 

1. The identification of risks is undertaken by the company. 
2. An analysis is made as to how and why the identified risks may impact on the company, based on 

severity or level of gravity of the event and the likelihood of the event happening, using a provided 
risk matrix. 

3. Mitigation measures are formulated to address the risk. 
4. The effectivity of the mitigation measures is monitored. 
5. A report is then made on how the risk was handled and how the company fared. 
 
Work Force 

 
On June 15, 2008, with the exception of a few, the company’s regular workforce was transferred 

to BAAC as the operator of CAC’s quarry.  
 
Labor Strikes 
 
 The company did not experience any strikes in the last five years.  
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Community Relations – Safety, Health and Social Concerns 
 

The company understands and responds to community concerns and it works under the following 
principles which:  (1) place a broad interpretation on the environment and the community; (2) listens to 
community concerns; and (3) acknowledges the various needs of special interest groups. 
  
 The company and the community in which it operated implemented various development 
programs hand-in-hand and in accordance with the agreed schedule and manner of implementation 
indicated in the company’s approved SDMP, which was approved on December 15, 2004 by the Mines 
and Geosciences Bureau (MGB).  CAC believes that community development programs produce 
continual and collective benefits for the company, the community and the environment. 
 
   In 2008, CAC turned over the funds intended for the implementation of its Social Development 
and Management Program (SDMP) for the community and the environment to BAAC. 
 
Compliance with Environmental Laws 
 

As the operator of the company’s Angono quarry pursuant to the Operating Agreement, BAAC is 
now responsible for the implementation of environmental programs required by law in connection with the 
quarry operations.  
 
Item 2. Properties 
 

Quarry operations are concentrated in the company’s properties located in Barangay San Isidro, 
Angono, Rizal.  Majority of the above ground assets used in the quarry operations such as the crushing 
plants, mobile equipment, machinery, office furniture, fixtures and various tools and implements are 
located in the Angono, Rizal quarry site.  Most of these assets were sold to BAAC on June 2, 2008 as the 
operator of CAC’s quarry.   

 
Other properties owned by the company include parcels of land located at Angono, Cardona, 

Montalban and Binangonan, Rizal, and at Batangas and Pampanga.   
 
  The following table lists the individual parcels of land owned by CAC: 

 

TCT No. Location Use Liens & 
Encumbrances 

Restriction 

TCT No. T-61014 Sto. Tomas, 
Batangas 

Under 
development 

None None 

TCT No. T-71928 Sto. Tomas, 
Batangas 

Under 
development 

None None 

TCT No. T-143105 Sto. Tomas 
Batangas 

Under 
development 

None None 

TCT No. 134650-R San Fernando, 
Pampanga 

Idle None None 

TCT No. 177339-R San Fernando, 
Pampanga 

Idle None None 

TCT No. 448320-R Floridablanca, 
Pampanga 

Idle None None 

TCT No. 042-
2010004636 

Floridablanca, 
Pampanga 

Idle None None 

TCT No. 042-
20100110526 

Floridablanca, 
Pampanga 

Idle Entry No. 
2506/Vol No. 85 - 
Affidavit of 
Adverse Claim 

None 
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TCT No. Location Use Liens & 
Encumbrances 

Restriction 

executed by 
Ligaya V. Blaza 
and Editho B. 
Blaza 

TCT No. N-21846 Montalban Idle a) Entry No. 
92705/T-70973- 
MORTGAGE in 
favor of the RCBC 
for the sum of 
Eight Hundred 
Fifty Thousand 
pesos (PHP 
850,000.00) 
 
b) Entry No. 
80051/T-N-21846- 
MORTGAGE in 
favor of the RCBC 
for the sum of 
Four Hundred 
Sixty-Five 
Thousand Pesos 
(PHP 465,000.00) 
 
c) Entry No. 
62332/T-N-21846- 
MORTGAGE in 
favor of the RCBC 
for the sum of One 
Hundred Eighty 
Five Thousand 
Pesos (PHP 
185,000.00) 
 
d) Entry No 
249413/T-N-
21846- 
MORTGAGE in 
favor of the RCBC 
for the sum of Five 
Hundred 
Thousand Pesos 
(PHP 500,000.00) 

None 

CCT No. PT-26412 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None  None 

CCT No. PT-26413 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None None 

CCT No. PT-26411 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None None 

CCT No. PT-26410 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None None 

CCT No. PT-26409 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None None 
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TCT No. Location Use Liens & 
Encumbrances 

Restriction 

CCT No. PT-26408 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None None 

CCT No. PT-26415 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None None 

CCT No. PT-26414 Oranbo, Pasig Condominium 
space 

None None 

TCT No. 628563 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 633399 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 647853 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 647855 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 647854 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 628801 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 567170 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 567168* Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 567167* Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 498505* Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 498506* Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 498507* Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 498508* Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 495637 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 495636 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 495929 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 567169* Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 486736 Angono, Rizal Quarry site None None 

TCT No. 500287* Angono, Rizal Raw land None None 

TCT No. 505057* Angono, Rizal Raw land None None 

TCT No. NM-6947 Binangonan, 
Rizal 

Raw land None  None 

TCT No. NM-6608 Binangonan, 
Rizal 

Raw land None  None 

TCT No. NM-6609 Binangonan, 
Rizal 

Raw land None  None 

TCT No. M-99733** Binangonan, 
Rizal 

Raw land None None 

TCT No. M-99734** Binangonan, 
Rizal 

Raw land None None 

TCT No. M-99732** Binangonan, 
Rizal 

Raw land None None 

TCT No. M-6610 Cardona, Rizal Raw land None None 

 
* These properties are the subject of the January 23, 2008 Operating Agreement between CAC and 
BAAC. 
 
** These properties are the subject of a Deed of Sale dated July 5, 2010 between the company and 
OCLP pursuant to which the company sold and transferred the said properties to OCLP.  The transfer of 
the titles to the property in the name of OCLP is currently being processed. 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 

The company has no material pending legal proceeding other than labor related cases and 
overdue account collection cases.  There was no material proceeding that was terminated during the 
fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report. 
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Article 44 of the Corporation Code, the company called a Special 
Stockholders’ Meeting on October 28, 2010 for the purpose of considering and approving the proposed 
new Management Agreement between the company and OCLP which was previously approved by the 
Board of Directors at its meeting held on July 29, 2010.  At the Special Stockholders’ Meeting, all the 
proposed terms and conditions of the new Management Agreement were approved unanimously by the 
stockholders present, representing around 84.98% of the company’s outstanding capital stock. The 
favorable vote obtained was more than the 2/3 requirement of the law. 
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PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 

Item 5. Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 

 

Market Information 

 

The Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) is the principal market where CAC’s common equity is 

traded. Par value of both Class “A” and Class “B” shares is at P10.00 each. 

 

For the years 2008, 2009 and 2010, the following are the quarterly high and low sales prices for 

CAC Class A shares: 

 

 2008 2009 2010 

 High Low Close High Low Close High Low Close 

Q1 36.00 30.00 35.00 45.00 45.00 45.00 49.50 34.00 35.00 

Q2 78.50 35.00 73.00 55.00 45.00 55.00 38.00 30.50 38.00 

Q3 50.00 44.00 50.00 81.00 32.00 81.00 45.00 33.00 45.00 

Q4 48.00 45.00 45.00 81.00 32.00 81.00 65.00 45.00 65.00 

 

CAC Class B shares have not been traded since their listing date. 

 

Stockholders 

 

There were 639 stockholders of record as of December 31, 2010. The top 20 stockholders of the 

company as of December 31, 2010 (as attested by the company’s stock transfer agent) are as follows: 

 

Stockholder 
Number of  Shares 

% 
Class A Class B Total 

1. Ortigas & Co., Ltd. Partnership 16,021,976 4,985,612 21,007,588 76.48 

2. Ramon E. Rodriguez 2,309,939  2,309,939 8.41 

3. Francisco Ortigas Securities, Inc. 927,217  927,217 3.38 

4. Eduardo Ortigas 513,109  513,109 1.87 

5. Maria Victoria Ortigas Arando 492,842  492,842 1.79 

6. Remedios Y Miranda Ortigas 492,709  492,709 1.79 

7. HSBC  401,615 401,615 1.46 

8. Sagitro, Inc. 328,974  328,974 1.20 

9. PCD Nominee Corp.-Filipino 300,182 248 300,430 1.09 

10. The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Manila 78,486  78,486 0.29 

11. Francisco Ortigas Securities, Inc. A/C#33149 58,240  58,240 0.21 

12. Francisco Ortigas III 53,085  53,085 0.19 

13. Celia D. Laurel 27,767  27,767 0.10 

14. Luisa D. Lacson 26,704  26,704 0.10 

15. Francisco Ortigas Securities, Inc A/C #756 25,621  25,621 0.09 

16. Li Seng Giap & Sons, Inc 19,004  19,004 0.07 

17. Ma. Victoria Ortigas Arando 18,859  18,859 0.07 

18. Remedios O. Luzuriaga 18,859  18,859 0.07 

19. The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Manila – 

Real Casa De Misericordia 

13,067  13,067 0.05 

20. Maria Del Rosario Ortigas 12,420  12,420 0.04 

Others 352,356 1,451 353,807 1.28 

Total 22,077,771 5,388,678 27,466,449 100.00 
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

 

For the last five (5) years, no sale of unregistered securities has been conducted by the company. 
 

Dividends 
 
 On November 4, 2009, the company declared a cash dividend of P19.11 per share for 
stockholders of record as of November 18, 2009, which cash dividend was distributed to the shareholders 
starting on November 23, 2009.  On July 29, 2010, the company again declared a cash dividend of P7.28 
per share for stockholders of record as of August 12, 2010, which cash dividend was distributed to the 
stockholders starting on August 31, 2010. 
 
Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 
 

In 2010, the company’s P16.9 million revenues came solely from the 2.5% royalty fees from the 
value of the aggregates sold by BAAC during the year.  In addition, other income of P11 million came 
from the gain on sale of a property in Tatala, Binangonan, Rizal and P18.2 million in interest income on 
the installment receivable from the sale of the property in Longos, Bagumbayan, Quezon City.  Operating 
expenses were mostly spent for real property and business taxes, provision for security of the various idle 
properties, and the various consultancy and legal professional fees.  
 
Forecast for year 2011 
 
 Revenues for 2011 will come mostly from royalties to be paid by BAAC pursuant to the terms of 
the Operating Agreement and from the sale of the Sto. Tomas, Batangas property which the company is 
currently developing into a leisure farmlot subdivision.  In addition, the company will continue to monitor 
the quarry activities of BAAC.  Finally, the company is evaluating several of its idle real estate assets for 
possible disposal or for conversion to revenue generating activities.   
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
 Presented below are the major financial highlights of the attached audited financial statements of 
the company for the years 2010, 2009, and 2008, all ending December 31, to wit: 
 

(In million pesos, except ratios and per share amounts) 

 Year 2010 Year 2009 Year 2008 

Total Current Assets 176.14 163.59 156.71 

Total Current Liabilities 26.25 32.05 136.98 

Net Working Capital 149.89 131.54 19.73 

Current Ratio 6.82 : 1 5.10 : 1 1.14 : 1 

Total Assets 352.56 529.48 1,141.75 

Total Stockholders’ Equity 326.32 497.23 804.43 

Revenue  16.93 302.69 220.06 

Cost of Sales 0 0 (127.23) 

Gross Profit 16.93 302.69 92.83 

General & Administrative Expenses (19.28) (34.82) (110.75) 

Selling Expenses 0 0 (10.87) 

Provision for Retrenchment Cost 0 0 0 

Other Income (Expenses) 35.32 40.95 528.14 

Income (Loss) before Tax 32.98 308.82 499.34 

Net Income (Loss) After Tax 28.85 217.87 427.41 
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Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 0 0 0.14 

Total Comprehensive Income 28.85 217.87 427.27 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 1.05 7.93 15.56 

 
2010 PERFORMANCE 
 
Revenue 
 

In 2010, the company recognized revenue of P16.93 million representing the 2.5% royalty fees 
from the value of the aggregates sold by BAAC.  The 2010 revenue is P285.76 million lower than 2009’s 
revenue of P302.69 million, which was composed of the P288.33 full recognition of the unamortized lump 
sum portion of the royalty fee from BAAC and P14.36 million 2.5% royalty fees from the value of 
aggregates sold by BAAC,  
 
Cost of Sales  
 

As was the case in 2009, no cost of sales was incurred in 2010 due to the transfer of quarry 
operations to BAAC referred to above.   
 
General and Administrative Expenses 
 

Total general and administrative expenses of P19.28 million were lower by P13.41 million or 41% 
from last year’s figure due to lower real property and business taxes and directors’ fees.  General and 
administrative expenses are composed mostly of depreciation, director’s fees, real property taxes, 
business taxes and licenses, personnel costs, and the like.  The company also incurred expenses of 
P6.25 million for security, janitorial services and other expenses for discontinued operations.     
 
Selling Expenses 
 

As was the case in 2009, no selling expenses were incurred in 2010 due to the cessation of rental 
or sales loading cost incurred after the company turned over its quarry operations to BAAC.   
 
Other Income (Expenses) 
 

Other income and expenses were composed of: 
 

a. Interest Income 
  
 The P3.05 million interest income from banks increased by 281% as compared to 2009’s 
P0.80 million.  
 

b. Gain on Sale of Investment Properties 
  
 In 2010, P11.01 million gain was recognized from the sale of various investment 
properties which increased by 14% from 2009’s figure of P9.69 million. 
  

c. Interest Income – others 
 
 In 2010, interest income earned on the installment receivable was composed of P18.21 
million from the sale of the property at Bagumbayan, Quezon City to OCLP and P1.06 million 
from the installment payment of the lump-sum royalty fee from BAAC. 
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d. Other income 
 
 Other income of P1.99 million decreased by 52% from 2008’s P3.22 million.  Other 
income is composed of accretion income, income from sale of scrap, and reversal of prior year’s 
provision for various expenses and doubtful accounts.  
 

e. Other Expenses or charges 
 
 In 2009, other expenses of P29.01 million is composed mainly of the recognition of 
impairment losses on non-current assets held for sale and available for sale investments. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash balance as of the end of the year amounted to P94.97 million, a P4.83 million increase from 
the company’s cash balance at the end of 2009.    The increase can be attributed to the net effect of the 
P150 million prepayment on the installment receivable from OCLP and the collection of the balance on 
the lump-sum royalty fee from BAAC less cash dividends paid during the year. 
 
Receivables - Trade 
 

Trade receivables represent current installment receivables of P20.76 million from the sale of the 
Bagumbayan, Quezon City and the Tatala, Binangonan, Rizal properties to OCLP, receivables from 
BAAC of P4.77 million representing unpaid monthly royalties and reimbursements at the end of the year, 
and  P1.53 million various advances to employees and other receivables. 
 
Inventories 
 

The company had no inventories (finished goods and warehouse inventory) as of the end of 
2010, due to the transfer of quarry operations to BAAC. 
 
Land held for development and sale 
 
 In 2010, the company started the development of its 9.7-hectare property in Sto. Tomas, 
Batangas into a leisure farmlot subdivision.  The leisure farm project is expected to produce around 60 
individual farm lots with 25% of the area of each farm lot devoted to residential purposes and the rest for 
vegetable farming. 
 
 The balance of the account at December 31, 2010 represents the cost of the land previously 
recorded as part of the Investment property account and the development costs incurred in 2010. 
 
Installment Receivables – Current and Non-current 
 

Installment receivables pertain to the remaining balance on selling price of the properties in 
Bagumbayan, Quezon City and Tatala, Binangonan, Rizal that were sold to OCLP.  The decrease was 
caused by the P150 million installments collected in advance and collection of amortizations due for the 
year but was partially offset by the P 27.85 million installment for the sale of the Tatala, Binangonan, Rizal 
property  

 
Other Current Assets 
 

Other current assets totaling P11.81 million decreased by P4.78 million largely because of the 
application of prepaid taxes on the company’s 2010 tax obligations. 
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Investment Properties 
 

The investment properties decreased by P57.04 million or 84% to P11.17 million from 2009’s 
figure of P68.21 million due to the reclassification of costs related to the Sto. Tomas, Batangas property 
to the “Land Held for Development and Sale” account and the sale of the Cebu and Tatala, Binangonan, 
Rizal properties. 

 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Property Available for Sale – net 
 

Property, plant and equipment (net) amounting to P64.01 million increased by 1% or P0.55 million 
compared to last year’s balance of P63.46 million due to the acquisition of equipments net of the 
depreciation and amortization of the said properties during the year 
 
Other Non-current Assets 
 

Other non-current assets totaling P8.94 million as of end 2010 represents a P0.89 million or 11% 
increase from last year due to payment of a cash bond for the development of the Sto. Tomas, Batangas 
property.     
 
Trade Accounts Payable 
 

Trade accounts payable amounting to P8.04 million was a P0.01 million increase from last year’s 
balance of P8.03 million due to the reclassification of various stale checks. 
 
Accrued Liabilities and Other Payables 
 

Accrued liabilities and other payables amounted to P18.21 million represents a decrease of P5.82 
million or 24% from last year’s figures, as restated, mostly due to the payment of various 2009 unclaimed 
dividend checks in 2010. 
 
Unearned Royalty Fees 
 

The Company previously recognized in 2008 the lump sum portion of the royalty fee on a straight-
line basis over the effectivity period of its Operating Agreement with the Consortium/BAAC.  At that time, 
management believed that the Company will earn this lump-sum royalty over the duration of the 
Consortium/BAAC’s quarrying operations.  However, upon subsequent review and fulfillment of conditions 
contained in the agreements with the Consortium/BAAC and confirmation with the Consortium/BAAC 
regarding their acceptance on the fulfillment of such conditions, management is of the view that the 
unamortized lump sum portion of the royalty amounting to P288.33 million should be recognized as 
earned in 2009.  Presently, no more conditions exist that will affect the full recognition of the unamortized 
portion as income for the year. 
 
Stockholders’ Equity 
 

Stockholder’s equity decreased from last year’s balance of P497.43 million to P326.32 million or 
by 34% due to the declaration of P199.96 million cash dividends less the P28.85 million net income 
realized from 2010 operations.   
 

Book value per share is at P11.88 per share as of December 31, 2010 as compared to P18.11 
per share as of December 31, 2009. 
 
A) Key Performance Indicator 

 
Total Sales Volume  – Effect to Gross Profit and to Net Income /Net Profit 

– Reported on a periodic basis: daily, monthly and annually 
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Average Selling Price      – Effect to Gross Profit and to Net Income / Net Profit 
    – Computed based on the Total Sales Value divided by the  
      Total Sales Volume 
 
Total Production Volume – Significant effect in product unit cost                                                                             
     – Reported on a periodic basis: daily, monthly and annually 

 
Extraction Cost              – Effect in Production Cost 

            – Reported on a monthly basis  
 
Freight and handling       – Effect in product Cost 

            – Incurred for delivered sales   
 

B) Full Calendar Years 

 

i.  Due to the company’s sound financial condition, and the transfer of its quarry operations to BAAC, 

there are no foreseeable trends, events or uncertainties that may have a material impact on its long 

term or short term liquidity. 

 

ii.  There are no events that will trigger any direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 

company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 

 

iii.  There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 

obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons 

created during the reporting period. 

 

iv.  Funding will be sourced from internally-generated cash flow, and also from borrowings or available 

credit facilities from other local and international commercial banks. 

 

v.  At the moment, there are no material commitments for capital expenditures other than those 

performed in the ordinary course of trade or business. 

 

vi.  At present, the production is being handled by BAAC. 
 

vii.  The causes for any material changes in the financial statements from 2009 to 2010 are explained in 

the Management Discussion and Analysis, as well as in the accompanying notes to Financial 

Statements. 

 

viii.  There is no known significant element of income or loss that did not arise from the company’s 

continuing operations, except as disclosed above and in the attached audited financial statements. 

 

ix.  Accounts that registered material changes of 5% or more and the causes thereof are as follows: 

 

Accounts 2010 2009 
Increase 

(Decrease) 
Remarks 

Revenue 16,931,387 302,688,560 (285,757,173) 

 

 

The decrease is attributable to 

the full recognition of the 

unamortized royalty fee from 

BAAC in 2009.  

 

General and 

admin 

expenses 

19,276,795 34,821,386 (15,544,591) 
 

The decrease was mostly due to 

the lower real property and 

business taxes and directors’ 

fees.  
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Accounts 2010 2009 
Increase 

(Decrease) 
Remarks 

Cash and 

cash 

equivalents 

94,976,132 90,151,064 4,825,068 
 

The increase was caused by the 
net effect of the P150 million 
prepayment on the installment 
receivable from OCLP and the 
collection of the balance on the 
lump-sum royalty fee from BAAC 
less cash dividends paid during 
the year. 
 

Receivables 27,060,352 56,854,539 (29,794,187) 
 

The decrease was mostly due to 

the P150 million prepayment on 

the installment receivable and 

the final settlement of the lump-

sum royalty fee receivable from 

BAAC.  

 

Land Held for 

Development 

and Sale 

42,300,148  42,300,148 The balance of the account at 
December 31, 2010 represents 
the cost of the Sto. Tomas, 
Batangas property previously 
recorded as part of the 
Investment property account in 
2009 and the development costs 
incurred in 2010. 

 

Other Current 

Assets 

11,806,961 16,584,077 (4,777,116) The decrease was due to the 

application of prepaid taxes on 

the company’s 2010 tax 

liabilities.   

 

Investment 

Properties 

11,170,397 68,210,185 (57,039,788) The decrease was due to the 

sale of the Cebu and the Tatala, 

Binangonan, Rizal properties 

and the reclassification of the 

cost of the Sto. Tomas, 

Batangas property to Land Held 

for Development and Sale 

account. 

 

Installment 

Receivable 

84,230,162 218,099,512 (133,869,350) The decrease was mostly due to 

the P150 million installments 

collected in advance during the 

year and the reclassification to 

current receivables of the 

receivables due within 2011. 

 

Other Non 

Current 

Assets 

8,941,207 8,053,724 887,483 The increase was due to the 

payment of a cash bond for the 

development of the Sto. Tomas, 

Batangas property. 
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Accrued 
liabilities and 
other 
payables 

 

18,206,695 24,024,404  (5,817,979) The decrease was mostly due to 
the payment of various 2009 
unclaimed dividend checks in 
2010. 
 

Stockholders’ 
Equity 

326,318,595 497,425,538 (171,106,943) The decrease was due to the 
cash dividends declared during 
the year less net income for the 
year. 
 

 

Item 7. Financial Statements 

 

Please see attached Consolidated Financial Statements of Concrete Aggregates Corporation and 

Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 with comparative figures for 2009 and 2008 and the Independent 

Auditors’ Report. 
 

Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial 

Disclosures 
 
Uy Singson Abella & Co. or USA&CO., CPAS (a member practice of Moore Stephens 

International) was chosen as the company’s independent auditor for the year ended December 31, 2010.  
However, in a letter dated October 21, 2010, USA&CO. informed the company that it could no longer 
continue as independent auditor in view of the retirement of the firm’s founding partners.  At its meeting 
held on October 28, 2010, the Board of Directors accepted the withdrawal of USA&CO. and resolved to 
appoint Isla Lipana & Co. (a member practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers global network) as the new 
independent auditor of the company for the year ended December 31, 2010, with such appointment 
effective as of November 1, 2010. 
 
External Audit Fees 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

(a) The aggregate fees, net of VAT, billed for professional 
services rendered by Isla Lipana and Co., USA&CO. and 
SGV for years 2010, 2009, & 2008 for: 

1. The audit of the company’s annual financial 
statements for the years ended December 31, 2010, 
2009, and 2008.  

2. Other assurance and related services rendered by 
SGV in year 2008 that are reasonably related to the 
performance of the audit of the company’s financial 
statements. 

P175,000 
 

P175,000 
 

P800,000 

(b)  All Other Fees 
The aggregate fees, net of VAT, billed for products and 
services provided by Isla Lipana and Co., USA&CO. and 
SGV for year 2010, 2009 and 2008, other than the 
services reported under item (a) above. The nature of 
which includes out of pocket expenses such as 
transportation, meals, postage, printing and 
documentation. 

21,000 21,000 100,000 

 

There were no changes or disagreements with the company’s external auditors, Isla Lipana & Co. and 

USA & Co., on accounting and financial statement disclosures. 
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Audit Committee’s Approval Policies and Procedures 

 

 The following are the Audit Committee’s policies and procedures with regard to the company’s 

external auditors (as enunciated in its Charter): 

 

 The Audit Committee shall review and evaluate the effectiveness of the company’s processes for 

assessing significant risks or exposures and the steps management has taken to minimize such 

risks. 

 The Audit Committee shall consider and review the effectiveness of or weaknesses in the 

company’s overall control environment, and any related significant findings and recommendations 

of the independent accountants, together with management’s responses thereto. 

 The Audit Committee shall review the coordination of the audit effort to assure completeness of 

coverage of key business controls and risk areas, reduction of redundant efforts, and the effective 

use of audit resources. 

 The Audit Committee shall discuss the status and adequacy of management information systems 

and other information technology. 

 The Audit Committee shall review filings with the SEC and other agencies, and other published 

documents containing the company’s financial statements, and consider whether the information 

contained in these documents is consistent with the information contained in the financial 

statements. 

 The Audit Committee shall recommend to the Board of Directors the External Auditor to be 

nominated and approved. 
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PART III-CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 

Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company 

 

Ignacio R. Ortigas (Chairman of the Board) 

70 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held at present and for the past five (5) years: 

 Chairman of the Board/Director, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to present 

 Director, OCLP Holdings, Inc. 

Trustee, Ortigas Foundation, Inc. 

Director/President, Itogon-Suyoc Resources, Inc. 

 President, Sagitro, Inc. 

President, Igmar Holdings, Inc. 

General Partner/Secretary, Ortigas & Company, Limited Partnership (up to 2010) 

 

Francisco M. Ortigas III (President) 

64 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 President/Director, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

 Director, OCLP Holdings, Inc. 

Trustee, Ortigas Foundation, Inc. 

 Chairman of the Board, Philam Bond Fund, Inc. 

 Chairman of the Board, Philam Dollar Bond Fund, Inc. 

 Chairman of the Board, Philam Strategic Growth Fund, Inc. 

 Chairman of the Board, AIG Global Bond Fund (Philippines), Inc. 

 Chairman of the Board, Philam Managed Income Fund, Inc. 

 Chairman of the Board, Philam Fund, Inc. 

 Chairman of the Board, Orica Explosives (Philippines), Inc. 

Director, Rotary Golfing Foundation of the Philippines 

Director, Heart Foundation of the Philippines 

Director/Nominee, Francisco Ortigas Securities, Inc. 

 Director/Treasurer, Philippine Golf Foundation 

 Director, Commonwealth Foods Corporation 

 Director, J. Romero & Associates 

 Director, Valle Verde Country Club 

 President, Susana Commercial Corporation 

 President, Suzy Q Corporation 

General Partner/Treasurer, Ortigas & Company, Limited Partnership (up to 2010) 

Philippine Ambassador to Mexico including Costa Rica, El Salvador,  

Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, Panama and Belize (up to 2010) 

Director/Treasurer, Bell Telecommunications Phils. (up to 2010) 

Chairman of the Board, Bayer (Phils.), Inc. (up to 2009) 

 

Roland Gerard R. Veloso, Jr. (Vice-President) 

46 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 
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Director/Vice-President, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

 Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

Senior Vice President/Head of Corporate Banking, Hongkong & Shanghai Banking Corporation  

Limited, Philippines 

Director, HSBC Savings Bank (Phils.) Inc. 

Director, HSBC Insurance Brokers (Phils.) Inc. 

 

Rex C. Drilon II (Executive Vice-President)* 

64 years old  

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Director/Executive Vice-President, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to October 31, 2010 

 Chief Operating Officer, Ortigas & Company, Limited Partnership (up to 2010) 

 Executive Director, Ortigas Foundation, Inc. (up to 2010)  

 

* Mr. Drilon tendered his resignation as Director and Executive Vice-President of the company, effective 

as of October 31, 2010. 

 

Jose C. Rodriguez IV (Treasurer)  

42 years old 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Director/Treasurer, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

Vice President, Infonet Computers Inc. 

Consultant, Goodah!!! 

IT Head/Photographer/Volunteer, Sanpio 

IT Head/Photographer, United Filipino Seafarers 

Journalist/IT Head/Photographer, Tinig ng Marino 

President, Lab Works Computers Inc. (up to 2010) 

 

Ma. Victoria B. Ortigas-Borromeo (Corporate Secretary) 

40 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Director/Corporate Secretary, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to the present as Director 

June 2010 to October 31, 2010 as Corporate Secretary 

Corporate Secretary, Susana Commercial Corporation 

Secretary/Treasurer Suzy Q Corporation 

Member, Francisco Ortigas Securities, Inc. (Member, Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.)  

Director/Treasurer, Cest Si Bon Corporation 

 

* Ms. Ortigas-Borromeo tendered her resignation as Corporate Secretary of the company, effective as of 

October 31, 2010.  She remains as a director of the company. 

 

Jaime M. Ortigas 

66 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 
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 Director, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

 Trustee, Ortigas Foundation, Inc. 

Management Consultant, Francisco Ortigas Securities, Inc. 

 Director/Treasurer, Xaviera Holdings, Inc. 

 Managing Director, FOSI Realty, Inc. 

 Managing Director, Susana Commercial Corporation 

 

Rafael B. Ortigas 

39  years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Director, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

Director, OCLP Holdings, Inc. 

Trustee, Ortigas Foundation, Inc. 

Executive Vice President, Sagitro, Inc. 

Chairman/President, Leafar Commercial Corporation 

Director/Executive Vice President, Itogon-Suyoc Resources, Inc. 

Director, Philweb Corporation 

Director/Vice President, ISM Communications Corp. 

 

Alberto M. Montilla 

75 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Director, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011   

Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

Trustee, Ortigas Foundation, Inc. 

Director, Vice-President - Treasurer, Itogon-Suyoc Resources, Inc. 

 Vice Chairman/Secretary, Sagitro, Inc. 

Director, ISM Communications Corp. 

Chairman/President, Igloo Endeavors Commercial, Inc. 

President, AMRO Commercial Corp.  

 

Emmanuel A. Rapadas (General Manager)   

51 years old  

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Director/General Manager, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011   

Period Served:  November 2010 to the present as Director 

June 2010 to the present as General Manager 

Director/Senior Vice President/Chief Finance Officer/Treasurer, OCLP Holdings, Inc. 

General Manager, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

 

* Mr. Rapadas was elected as a director of the company by the remaining directors to replace Mr. Drilon, 

effective as of October 31, 2010. 
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Roberto M. Paterno 

74 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Independent Director, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

 Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Philippine Cancer Society 

 Consultant, Manila Electric Company 

 Trustee/Treasurer, MCO Foundation 

 Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Meralco Museum & Archives 

Fellow, Institute of Corporate Directors 

Chairman of the Board, Meralco Employees Savings and Loan Association (up to 2010) 

 

Samson C. Lazo 

66 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Independent Director, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

  Current Term of Office: June 2010 to June 2011 

  Period Served: June 2010 to the present 

 Commissioner, Construction Industry Arbitration Commission 

 President, Private Infra Dev Corporation 

Fellow, Institute of Corporate Directors 

Board Member, Philippine Overseas Construction Board (up to 2010) 

 Adviser, CHIYODA Philippines Corporation (up to 2010) 
 
Independent Directors 
 

An independent director is a person other than an officer or employee of the corporation, its 
parent or subsidiaries, or any other individual having a relationship with the corporation, which would 
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.  Mr. 
Roberto M. Paterno and Mr. Samson C. Lazo were elected to serve as independent directors of the 
company, pursuant to Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code, during the 2010 Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting of the Company held last June 24, 2010. 
 
 The above Directors had no involvement in any legal proceedings for the last five (5) years.  
 

Significant Employees 

 
Ceasar D. Buenaventura 

(seconded by virtue of the Management Agreement between OCLP and CAC) 

45 years old 

Filipino 

Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 

 Accounting Manager, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 

 Controller, Ortigas & Company Limited Partnership 
 
Michael David I. Abundo III 

(seconded by virtue of the Management Agreement between OCLP and CAC) 
41 years old 
Filipino 
Positions and offices held for the present and past five (5) years: 
 Asst. Corporate Secretary, Concrete Aggregates Corporation 
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 Legal Manager, Ortigas & Company, Limited Partnership 
 
Family Relationships 
 
 Family relationships among the Directors are as follows: Atty. Ignacio R. Ortigas, Mr. Jaime M. 
Ortigas and Mr. Francisco M. Ortigas III are cousins. Mr. Rafael B. Ortigas is the nephew of Atty. Ignacio 
R. Ortigas, while Atty. Ma. Victoria Ortigas-Borromeo is the daughter of Mr. Francisco M. Ortigas III. 
 
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
 The above directors and executive officers had no involvement in any material legal proceedings 
for the last five (5) years. No director declined to stand for re-election to the Board of Directors since the 
date of the last annual meeting. 
 
Item 10.    Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
 A regular Board meeting is scheduled every quarter, and each director receives a token sum of 
P7,500 per board meeting and P5,000 per diem allowance for each committee meeting attended.  The 
total annual per diems and allowances for 2010 was P0.36 million.  Committee meetings are held in 
accordance with the specific committee’s charter with additional meetings held as needed.  The company 
likewise adopted a Compensation Policy for Directors and Officers which was unanimously approved by 
its stockholders on November 11, 2008.   
 
 None of the incumbent directors of the company serve in any other capacity whether as 
consultant or otherwise. Neither is there any contract, employment or compensatory plan between the 
company and any director or named executive officer. 
 
 For the executive officers such as the Chairman of the Board, President, Vice President, 
Corporate Secretary, and Treasurer, there is absolutely no compensation given for whatever service they 
provide to the company.  

 
Herein below is the disclosure of the compensation received by the company’s senior 

management for the last three (3) fiscal years, to wit: 
 

Summary Compensation Table 
 

Annual Compensation for year 2008 

Particulars 
Salary  

(Aggregate Amount) 
Bonus  

(Aggregate Amount) 
Other Annual 
Compensation 

Key management personnel P3,514,515 P680,536 - 

All officers and directors as a 
group unnamed 

P1,117,500 P10,000,000 - 

 
Annual Compensation for year 2009 

Particulars 
Salary  

(Aggregate Amount) 

Bonus  
(Aggregate 

Amount) 

Other Annual 
Compensation 

Key management personnel P840,000 P140,000 - 

All officers and directors as a 
group unnamed 

P695,000 P4,919,016 - 
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Annual Compensation for year 2010 

Particulars 
Salary  

(Aggregate Amount) 

Bonus  
(Aggregate 

Amount) 

Other Annual 
Compensation 

Key management personnel P874,679 P117,000 P0 

All officers and directors as a 
group unnamed 

P360,000 P0 P0 

 
 

Estimated Annual Compensation for year 2011 

Particulars 
Salary  

(Aggregate Amount) 
Bonus  

(Aggregate Amount) 
Other Annual 
Compensation 

Key management personnel P,875,000 P117,000 None 

 
The following benefits apply to key management personnel: 
 

Benefit Criteria 

Monthly  Gasoline  Allowance 150 liters 

Medical  Allowance P7,500 

Health  Plan P275,000  annual  limit    

Group  Life Insurance  P2,000,000 coverage 

Omnibus  Loan  Maximum  of  P35,000 payable  in  1 year  at  0% interest 

Annual Clothing  Allowance P8,000  

Training  Budget  Individual  P24,000 
Common  Budget   P32,000 

Leaves 15  days  vacation leave  accruable  up  to  30  days;  leaves in  
excess of  30  days  forfeited 
15  days  sick leave  accruable  up to  90  days; leaves in  excess  
of  90 days  may be encashed 

  
Item 11.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 
 
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 
 

Title 

Of 

Class 

Name & address 
of record owner and 
(Relationship with 

Issuer) 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner and 

(Relationship with 
Record Owner) 

 
Citizenship 

No. of 
Shares 

Held 

% of 
class 

Class “A” 
and “B” 

 

Ortigas & Company, 
Limited Partnership  
9

th
 flr, Ortigas Bldg., 

Ortigas Ave., Pasig City 
(Security Holder) 

Ortigas & Company 
Limited Partnership 
(Same Entity) 

Filipino 21,007,588 76.48 

Class “A” Ramon E. Rodriguez, 
Temple Drive, Green-
meadows, Quezon City 
(Security Holder) 

Ramon E. Rodriguez 
(Same Person) 

Filipino 2,309,939 8.41 

 
The cutoff date for the determination of the above is December 31, 2010. 
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Security Ownership of Management 
 
Board of Directors 
 

Class Name of Beneficial Owner 
Amount of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

Citizenship 
% of Class 

 

Class A Ortigas, Francisco III M. 
(Director, President) 

53,085 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Ortigas, Ignacio R.  
(Chairman of the Board) 

12,632 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Rodriguez, Jose IV C.  
(Director, Treasurer) 

319 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Ortigas, Jaime M. (Director) 100 Filipino Negligible 

Class B Roland Gerard R. Veloso   
(Director, Vice- President) 

91 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Montilla, Alberto M. (Director) 126 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Ortigas, Rafael B. (Director) 633 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Ortigas, Ma. Victoria B.  
(Director, Corporate Secretary) 

100 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Emmanuel A. Rapadas 
(Director, General Manager) 

01 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Paterno, Roberto M. 
(Independent Director) 

01 Filipino Negligible 

Class A Lazo, Samson C. 
(Independent Director) 

01 Filipino Negligible 

Total  67,089  Negligible 

 
The cutoff date for the determination of the above is December 31, 2010. 

 
 The aggregate ownership of all the Directors as a group totals 67,089 shares, considered 
negligible as compared with the total amount of outstanding shares. 
 

The voting powers of OCLP reside with the duly authorized person (usually one of its General 
Partners) who is designated to attend the Stockholders’ Meeting.  The company will only know who will 
represent OCLP at the stockholders’ meeting when the representative attends the meeting. 
 
Voting Trust Holders of 5% or more 
 

No portion of the outstanding capital stock, whether under Class A or Class B shares, has been 
the subject of a voting trust agreement or any similar agreement. 
 
Changes in Control 
 
 No change in the control of the company has occurred since the beginning of the last fiscal year. 
 
Item 12.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
 
 There existed no transactions, actual or proposed, in which the company and any of its directors, 
executive officers, nominees for election as directors, security holder and their relatives to the second civil 
degree by consanguinity or affinity, were parties for the last three years. 
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PART IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Item 13.  Corporate Governance 
 
Evaluation System in terms of Compliance with the Company’s Manual on Corporate 

Governance. The company once again accomplished and submitted its Corporate Governance 
Scorecard last November 15, 2010.    On March 25, 2010, the Board of Directors approved revisions 
made to the company’s Manual on Corporate Governance pursuant to SEC memorandum circular 6, 
Series of 2009, on the Revised Code of Corporate Governance.  The company further amended its 
Revised Manual on Corporate Governance to incorporate additional provisions recommended by the SEC 
and submitted the same to the SEC on March 31, 2011.   

 
Measures for full compliance with the adopted leading practices on good corporate 

governance. In addition to its submission of the SEC mandated Corporate Governance Scorecard and 
pursuant to the Memo for Brokers dated November 5, 2007 issued by the PSE, the company’s website 
allows access to the company’s disclosures with the SEC and the PSE.  The company likewise complied 
with various mandatory submissions relating to corporate governance specified under relevant SEC 
regulations, which includes the filing of certifications on the attendance of the members of the Board of 
Directors in the 2010 regular board meetings and the qualifications of its independent directors.  Finally, 
the company continues to monitor its compliance with its obligations under its Revised Manual on 
Corporate Governance. 

  
Board Committees have been established to perform their respective roles as envisioned by the 

company’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance. The company continues to espouse adherence to 
the principles of good corporate governance and the best practices, first among the members of the 
Board of Directors, and cascaded down to the top and middle management, down to the rank-and-file.  

 
Deviations. In 2010, no material deviation occurred from the company’s Revised Manual on 

Corporate Governance.  
 
Improvement of Corporate Governance. Plans are being made for the company’s directors to 

attend more seminars and trainings relating to good corporate governance.  The company also intends to 
continue monitoring the performance of key officers and employees. 
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PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 
 
Item 14.  Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 
Exhibits 
 
 Attached to this SEC 17-A Report and made an integral part hereof is the Audited Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the company for 2010. 
 
Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 

The following reports on SEC Form 17-C were filed with the SEC during the last six months of 
2010 (July – December 2010): 

 
a. Disclosure on the certifications of the independent directors of CAC attesting to their qualifications 

and the absence of any disqualifications as such – SEC Form 17-C filed on July 20, 2010; 
 

b. Disclosure on the highlights of the meeting of the Board of Directors held on July 29, 2010 – SEC 
Form 17-C filed on July 29, 2010:  

1. declaration of a cash dividend in the amount of P7.28 per share; 
2. approval by the Board of Directors of the execution of a new Management Agreement 

between CAC and OCLP; and 
3. setting of the date and record date of the special stockholders’ meeting for the 

consideration and approval by the shareholders of the Management Agreement; 
   

c. Disclosure on the highlights of the meeting of the Board of Directors held on October 28, 2010 – 
SEC Form 17-C filed on October 28, 2010: 

1. change of external auditor from Uy Singson Abella & Co. to Isla Lipana & Co.; 
2. resignation of Mr. Rex C. Drilon II as director and executive vice-president and 

resignation of Atty. Marivic B. Ortigas-Borromeo as corporate secretary; and 
3. election of Mr. Emmanuel A. Rapadas as director to take the place of Mr. Rex C. Drilon II; 

 
d. Disclosure on the approval by the shareholders of the new Management Agreement between 

CAC and OCLP at the special stockholders’ meeting held on October 28, 2010 – SEC Form 17-C 
filed on October 28, 2010; 
 

e. Disclosure on the execution of the new Management Agreement between CAC and OCLP – SEC 
Form 17-C filed on October 28, 2010. 
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Concrete Aggregates Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Total Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2010

(With comparative figures for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008)
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Notes 2010 2009 2008

REVENUE
Basic royalty fee 23 16,931,387 14,355,227 7,657,390
Lump sum royalty fee 23 - 288,333,333 11,666,667
Sales of aggregates - - 200,733,259

16,931,387 302,688,560 220,057,316

COST AND EXPENSES
General and administrative expenses 15 19,276,795 34,821,385 110,754,100
Cost of aggregates sold 14 - - 127,232,483
Selling expenses 16 - - 10,873,901

19,276,795 34,821,385 248,860,484

OPERATING INCOME (2,345,408) 267,867,175 (28,803,168)

OTHER INCOME, net 18 35,323,591 40,953,837 528,144,761

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 32,978,183 308,821,012 499,341,593

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX 19 4,129,377 90,948,050 71,930,033

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 28,848,806 217,872,962 427,411,560
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Fair value gain (loss) on available-for-sale
financial assets 11 - 3,110 (143,012)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 28,848,806 217,876,072 427,268,548

Basic/Diluted earnings per share 21 1.050 7.932 15.561

(The notes on pages 1 to 44 are an integral part of these financial statements.)



Concrete Aggregates Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2010

(With comparative figures for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008)
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Share Capital
(Note 13)

Share
Premium

Fair Value
Reserve on

Available-for-
Sale Financial

Assets
(Note 11)

Retained Earnings

Total
Appropriated

(Note 13)
Unappropriated

(Note 13)

Balances, January 1, 2008 274,664,490 1,069,304 292,042 - 900,961,915 1,176,987,751

Comprehensive income
Net income for the year - - - - 427,411,560 427,411,560

Other comprehensive income
Fair value loss on available-

for-sale financial assets - - (143,012) - - (143,012)

Total comprehensive
income for the year - - (143,012) - 427,411,560 427,268,548

Transaction with owners
Cash dividends - - - - (799,822,995) (799,822,995)

Balances, December 31, 2008 274,664,490 1,069,304 149,030 - 528,550,480 804,433,304

Comprehensive income
Net income for the year - - - - 217,872,962 217,872,962
Other comprehensive income

Fair value gain on available-
for-sale financial assets - - 3,110 - - 3,110

Total comprehensive
income for the year - - 3,110 - 217,872,962 217,876,072

Transaction with owners
Cash dividends - - - - (524,883,838) (524,883,838)

Balances, December 31, 2009 274,664,490 1,069,304 152,140 - 221,539,604 497,425,538

Comprehensive income
Net income for the year - - - - 28,848,806 28,848,806
Other comprehensive income

Fair value gain on available-
for-sale financial assets - - - - - -

Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 28,848,806 28,848,806

Transactions with owners
Cash dividends - - - - (199,955,749) (199,955,749)
Appropriation of retained

earnings - - - 70,000,000 (70,000,000) -
Actual expenditure against

appropriation - - - (23,471,762) 23,471,762 -

Total transactions with
owners - - - 46,528,238 (246,483,987) (199,955,749)

Balances, December 31, 2010 274,664,490 1,069,304 152,140 46,528,238 3,904,423 326,318,595

(The notes on pages 1 to 44 are an integral part of these financial statements.)



Concrete Aggregates Corp. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2010

(With comparative figures for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008)
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Notes 2010 2009 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash used in operations 22 (3,706,321) (64,467,946) (22,619,126)
Interest received on:

Installment receivable 20 13,330,423 50,527,143 -
Bank deposits 5 3,052,845 796,600 5,072,237
Lump sum royalty 23 1,056,950 1,630,666 -

Proceeds from lump sum royalty fee on
installment 23 22,666,667 45,333,333 232,000,000

Proceeds received on retirement plan asset 17 - 3,682,978 -
Income taxes paid including creditable

taxes withheld - (5,672,286) (103,367,900)
Retrenchment cost paid 17 - - (29,947,708)

Net cash flows from operating activities 36,400,564 31,830,488 81,137,503

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Collections of installment receivable 20 172,951,193 600,283,193 -
Sale of investment property 3,493,683 - -
Sale of property, plant and equipment - 8,475,589 218,926,630
Sale of investment in a subsidiary 23 - - 587,004,950

Acquisitions of:
Property, plant and equipment 9 (1,331,933) (145,108) (28,926,424)
Investment property 10 (2,968,258) (1,084,408) -
Investment in a subsidiary 23 - - (218,000,000)

(Increase) decrease in other non-current assets 11 (887,483) 3,626,400 4,479,593

Net cash flows from investing activities 171,257,202 611,155,666 563,484,749

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid (202,832,698) (513,877,458) (796,930,187)
Payments of bank loans 18 - (50,000,000) -
Interest paid 18 - (1,222,851) (1,979,462)
Proceeds from availment of bank loans 18 - - 50,000,000

Net cash flows used in financing activities (202,832,698) (565,100,309) (748,909,649)

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - 4,602 (19,685)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,825,068 77,890,447 (104,307,082)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
At January 1 5 90,151,064 12,260,617 116,567,699

At December 31 5 94,976,132 90,151,064 12,260,617

(The notes on pages 1 to 44 are an integral part of these financial statements.)



Concrete Aggregates Corp. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

As at and for the year ended December 31, 2010

(With comparative figures for 2009 and 2008)

(In the Notes, all amounts are shown in Philippine Peso unless otherwise stated)

Note 1 - General information

Concrete Aggregates Corp. (the “Parent Company”) was incorporated in the Philippines and registered
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on August 23, 1968. The Parent Company is listed
in the Philippine Stock Exchange and is primarily engaged in quarrying, crushing and selling basalt
concrete aggregates. As its secondary purpose, the Parent Company is permitted to engage in real
estate business and purchase, own, subdivide, sell, lease, rent, mortgage, take option or otherwise deal
in real property, improved or unimproved, be it residential, commercial, or agricultural, insofar as may
be permitted by law.

The Parent Company’s quarrying operations in its property in Barangay San Isidro, Angono, Rizal is
allowed by virtue of Mineral Production Sharing Agreements (MPSA) and Environmental Clearance
Certificates (ECC) issued by the government.

The Parent Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely CAC Insurance Agency Corp. (CIAC) and
CAC Marketing and Services Corp. (CMSC) are both incorporated in the Philippines and are currently
dormant companies. The Parent Company’s immediate and ultimate parent is Ortigas & Company,
Limited Partnership (OCLP).

The Parent Company has a management agreement with its parent and majority shareholder, OCLP
(Note 20).

The registered office address of the Parent Company is located at 9th Floor, Ortigas Building, Ortigas
Avenue, Pasig City.

On June 1, 2008, the consortium of Republic Cement Corporation and Lafarge Holdings (Philippines),
Inc. (the Consortium) through Batong Angono Aggregates Corporation (BAAC) took over the Parent
Company’s quarrying operations by virtue of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Agreement with
the Consortium dated January 18, 2008 and its Operating Agreement with BAAC dated January 23,
2008. In return, the Parent Company shall receive lump sum and basic royalty fees in accordance with
the terms of its Operating Agreement with BAAC (Note 23).

The consolidated financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at
and for the year ended December 31, 2010 were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on
March 24, 2011.
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Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). The term PFRS in general includes all applicable PFRS,
Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), Interpretations of the Philippine Interpretations Committee
(PIC), Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations which have been approved by the Financial Reporting Standards
Council (FRSC) and adopted by the SEC.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets under Other non-current assets.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published
standards effective beginning January 1, 2010 and onwards

The Group has adopted the following accounting standards and interpretations approved by the FRSC
which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010:

(a) Standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards and interpretations as approved by the FRSC which have been
adopted by the Group effective January 1, 2010:

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate (effective
January 1, 2012) clarifies whether PAS 18, Revenue or PAS 11, Construction Contracts, should be
applied to particular transactions. It is likely that PAS 18 will be applied to a wider range of
transactions. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively. The FRSC decided to require
mandatory application of the interpretation for Philippine financial reporting purposes in 2012 to
allow entities engaged in the real estate business time to prepare for implementation of the
interpretation.

Effective January 1, 2010, the Group early adopted IFRIC 15 consistent with the policy of the
ultimate parent company. Such adoption did not have an impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

 PFRS 3 (Revised), Business Combinations, and consequential amendments to PAS 27,
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, PAS 28, Investments in Associates, and PAS 31,
Interests in Joint Ventures, are effective prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or
after July 1, 2009.
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The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations but with
some significant changes compared with PFRS 3. For example, all payments to purchase a
business are recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as
debt subsequently re-measured through the statements of comprehensive income. There is a
choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs are expensed. The adoption of the above
standard did not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements since the Group was not
a party to any business combination during the year.

PAS 27 (Revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be
recorded in equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in
goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any
remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognized in
profit or loss. PAS 27 (Revised) has had no impact on the current period, as none of the non-
controlling interests have a deficit balance, there have been no transactions whereby an interest in
an entity is retained after the loss of control of that entity, and there have been no transactions with
non-controlling interests.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners (effective July 1,
2009). This interpretation addresses accounting by an entity that makes a non-cash asset
distribution to owners. An entity shall measure a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a
dividend to its owners at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. If an entity gives its owner a
choice of receiving either a non-cash asset or a cash alternative, the entity shall estimate the
dividend payable by considering both the fair value of each alternative and the associated
probability of owners selecting each alternative. At the end of each reporting period and at the date
of settlement, the entity shall review and adjust the carrying amount of the dividend payable, with
any changes in the carrying amount of the dividend payable recognized in equity as adjustment to
the amount of the distribution. The adoption of IFRIC 17 did not have any impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

2009 Improvements to PFRS (effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2010)

The following are the relevant amendments to PFRS which contain amendments that result in
accounting changes, presentation, recognition and measurement. It also includes amendments that are
terminology or editorial changes only which have either minimal or no effect on accounting (effective
January 1, 2010). This amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in
April 2009. The adoption of the amendments below had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

 PFRS 5 (Amendment), Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (effective
January 1, 2010). This amendment clarifies the disclosures required in respect of non-current
assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations. Disclosures in
other PFRS do not apply to such assets (disposal groups) unless:

- Those PFRS require disclosure in respect of non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified
as held for sale or discontinued operations; or

- The disclosure relates to the measurement of assets or liabilities within a disposal group that
are outside the scope of PFRS 5, measurement requirements and the information is not
disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements.
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 PFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective January 1, 2010). The amendment clarifies that an entity is
required to disclose a measure of segment assets only if that measure is regularly reported to the
chief operating decision maker.

 PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (effective January 1, 2010). The amendment clarifies
that the classification of potential settlement of a liability by issuing an equity is not relevant to its
classification as current or non-current. The definition of current liability is amended which
permits a liability to be classified as non-current (provided that the entity has an unconditional
right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12 months after the
accounting period) notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required by the counterparty
to settle in shares at any time.

 PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows (effective January 1, 2010). This amendment requires that only
expenditures that result in a recognized asset in the balance sheet can be classified as investing
activities.

 PAS 17, Leases (effective January 1, 2010). This amendment deleted the specific guidance regarding
the classification of leases of land as operating lease. It also eliminates the inconsistency with the
general guidance on lease classification. As a result, leases of land should be classified as either
finance or operating using the general principles of PAS 17.

 PAS 36, Impairment of Assets (effective January 1, 2010). This amendment is to clarify that the
largest cash-generating unit (or group of units) to which goodwill should be allocated for the
purposes of impairment testing is an operating segment as defined in PFRS 8, Operating Segments.
Adoption of this revised standard had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (effective January 1, 2010). The
following are the amendments:

- Clarifies that prepayment options, the exercise price of which compensates the lender for loss
of interest by reducing the economic loss from reinvestment risk, should be considered closely
related to the host debt contract;

- Amended the scope exemption in PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to clarify that:

1. it only applies to binding (forward) contracts between an acquirer and a vendor in a
business combination to buy an acquiree at future date

2. the term of the forward contract should not exceed a reasonable period normally necessary
to obtain any required approvals and to complete the transaction; and

3. the exemption should not be applied to option contracts (whether or not currently
exercisable) that on exercise will result in control of an entity, nor by analogy to
investments in associates and similar transactions.

- Amendment to clarify when to recognize gains or losses on hedging instruments as a
reclassification adjustment in a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction that results
subsequently in the recognition of a financial instrument. The amendment clarifies that gains
or losses should be reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the period in which the hedged
forecast cash flow affects profit or loss.
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- Amendment to clarify that entities should no longer use hedge accounting for transactions
between segments in their separate financial statements.

(b) Standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations effective January 1, 2010 but
are not currently relevant to the Group

 PFRS for Small and Medium-Sized Entities (effective January 1, 2010)
 PFRS 2 (Amendment), Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions (effective January

1, 2010)
 PFRS 2, Share-based Payment (effective July 1, 2010)
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and PAS 39, Financial

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (effective July 1, 2009)
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, (effective July 1, 2009)
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation (effective

July 1, 2009)
 PAS 36 (Amendment), Impairment of Assets (effective January 1, 2010)

(c) New standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are not yet effective
and not early adopted by the Group

Based on the existing transactions and balances as at and for the year ended December 31, 2010, the
following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations are not expected to have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements. Impact on future transactions, if any, cannot
be reasonably assessed at the balance sheet date.

 PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets
(effective July 1, 2011). The amendment requires the disclosure of information that enables the
users of financial statements to understand the relationship between transferred financial assets
that are derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities; and to evaluate the nature of,
and risks associated with, the entities continuing involvement in derecognized financial assets. The
Group will apply these amendments for the financial reporting period commencing on
January 1, 2012. It is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 PFRS 9, Financial Instruments (effective January 1, 2013). This standard is the first step in the
process to replace PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. PFRS 9
introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities
and is likely to affect the Group’s accounting for its financial assets and financial liabilities. The
adoption of PFRS 9 is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

 PAS 12 (Amendment), Income Taxes - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective
January 1, 2012). The amendment provides a practical solution to the problem by introducing a
presumption that recovery of the carrying amount will normally be through sale. As a result of the
amendment, SIC 21 Income Taxes - Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets will no longer
apply to investment properties carried at fair value. The Group will apply the amendment from
January 1, 2012. It is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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 PAS 24 (Revised), Related Party Disclosures (effective January 1, 2011). The revised standard
clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party and removes the requirement for
government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other
government-related entities. The Group will apply the revised standard from January 1, 2011. The
adoption of PAS 24 (Revised) is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

 PAS 32 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues
(effective February 1, 2010). The amendment addresses the accounting for rights issues that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the issuer. Provided certain
conditions are met, such rights issues are now classified as equity regardless of the currency in
which the exercise price is denominated. Previously, these issues had to be accounted for as
derivative liabilities. The amendment applies retrospectively in accordance with PAS 8, Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The Group will apply the amended standard
from January 1, 2011. The adoption of PAS 32 (Amendment) is not expected to have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, PAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their Interaction (Amendment) (effective January 1, 2011). The
amendment corrects an unintended consequence of Philippine Interpretations IFRIC 14. Without
the amendments, entities are not permitted to recognize as an asset some voluntary prepayments
for minimum funding contributions. This was not intended when Philippine Interpretation IFRIC
14 was issued, and the amendment corrects this. The amendment should be applied retrospectively
to the earliest comparative period presented. The Group will apply these amendments for the
financial reporting period commencing on January 1, 2011. The adoption of IFRIC 14 is not
expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
(effective July 1, 2010). The interpretation clarifies the accounting by an entity when the terms of a
financial liability are renegotiated and result in the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor of
the entity to extinguish all or part of the financial liability (debt for equity swap). It requires a gain
or loss to be recognized in profit or loss, which is measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued. If the fair value
of the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments should be
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The Group will apply the
interpretation from January 1, 2011. The adoption of IFRIC 19 is not expected to have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2010 Improvements to PFRS (effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2011)

The following are the relevant amendments to PFRS which contains amendments that result in
accounting changes, presentation, recognition and measurement. It also includes amendments that are
terminology or editorial changes only which have either minimal or no effect on accounting (effective
January 1, 2011). This amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in
August 2009.
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 PFRS 3, Business Combinations (effective July 1, 2010). The amendment clarifies that the
amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, PAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation, and PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, that eliminate
the exemption for contingent consideration, do not apply to contingent consideration that arose
from business combinations whose acquisition dates precede the application of PFRS 3 (as revised
in 2008).

The amendment also clarifies that the choice of measuring non-controlling interests at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets applies only to instruments that represent
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the net assets in
the event of liquidation. All other components of non-controlling interest are measured at fair
value unless another measurement basis is required by PFRS.

It also clarifies that the application guidance in PFRS 3 applies to all share-based payment
transactions that are part of a business combination, including unreplaced and voluntarily replaced
share-based payment awards.

 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective January 1, 2011). The amendment
emphasizes the interaction between quantitative and qualitative disclosures about the nature and
extent of risks associated with financial instruments.

 PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (effective January 1, 2011). The amendment clarifies
that an entity will present an analysis of other comprehensive income for each component of
equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

 PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective July 1, 2010). The amendment
clarifies that the consequential amendments from PAS 27 made to PAS 21, The Effect of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates, PAS 28, Investments in Associates, and PAS 31, Interests in Joint
Ventures, apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009, or earlier when
PAS 27 is applied earlier.

 PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting (effective January 1, 2011). The amendment provides
guidance to illustrate how to apply disclosure principles in PAS 34 and add disclosure requirements
around:

- The circumstances likely to affect fair values of financial instruments and their classification;
- Transfers of financial instruments between different levels of the fair value hierarchy;
- Changes in classification of financial assets; and
- Changes in contingent liabilities and assets.

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programs (effective January 1, 2011). The
amendment clarifies the meaning of ‘fair value’ in the context of measuring award credits under
customer loyalty program.

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at December
31, 2010. The subsidiaries’ financial statements are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent
Company. The Group uses uniform accounting policies. These consolidated financial statements
include the financial statements of the Parent Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, CIAC and
CMSC (Note 1).
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(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date on which control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognizes any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognized directly in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

2.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
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2.4 Trade receivables

Trade receivables arising from Group’s operations particularly from the royalty agreement with normal
credit term of 30 days are recorded initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
less provision for impairment. Fair value approximates invoice amount due to short term nature of the
financial assets. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganization, and default or delinquency in payments are considered as
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivable. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against costs and expenses in profit or loss.

2.5 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

A financial asset is any asset that is (a) cash; (b) an equity instrument of another entity; (c) a
contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity, or to exchange financial
assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favorable to the
Group; or (d) a contract that will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments.

A financial liability is any liability that is (a) a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset to another entity, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under
conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group; or (b) a contract that will or may be settled in
the Group’s own equity instruments.

2.5.1 Classification and reclassification

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: (a) at fair value through profit or
loss; (b) loans and receivables; (c) held-to-maturity investments; and (d) available-for-sale financial
assets. The Group classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: (a) at fair value through
profit or loss; and (b) at amortized cost. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets and liabilities were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets and liabilities at initial recognition.

Except for loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the Group does not hold
financial assets under the other categories. As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group does not
have financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents (Note 2.3), receivables
(Note 2.4), installment receivable and miscellaneous deposits are classified under this category.
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(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. Under this category are the Group’s available-for-sale financial
assets, mainly representing equity securities and club shares.

(iii) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost pertain to financial liabilities that are not held for
trading or not designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon the inception of the liability.
Under this category are trade payables and accrued expenses and other liabilities (excluding payables
to government agencies) (Note 2.10).

(b) Reclassification

The Group may choose to reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and
receivables out of the available-for-sale category if the Group has the intention and ability to hold these
financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification.

Reclassifications are made at fair value as at the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost
or amortized cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before
reclassification date are subsequently made. Effective interest rates for financial assets reclassified to
loans and receivables category are determined at the reclassification date. Further increases in
estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest rates prospectively.

2.5.2 Recognition and derecognition

(a) Initial recognition and measurement

Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade date (the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset). Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at
fair value plus transaction costs, except for all financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value
through profit or loss.

(b) Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Available-for-
sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value; changes in the fair value of assets classified
as available-for-sale are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(c) Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Receivables are
derecognized upon collection or when written off in the ordinary course of business.

A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) is removed from the balance sheet when, and only
when, it is extinguished, i.e., when the obligation is discharged or is cancelled or expires.
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2.5.3 Determination of fair values

The Group classifies its fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following
levels:

• quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
• inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and
• inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable

inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted market price or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs. When
current bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the most recent transaction provides
evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic
circumstances since the time of the transaction.

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using
appropriate valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference
to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing
models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising of equity securities and club shares, are measured under
Level 1 (Note 11).

2.5.4 Impairment of financial assets

The carrying value of all financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The identification of impairment and the
termination of recoverable amount is a process of involving various assumptions and factors, including
the financial condition of the counterparty, expected future cash flows, observable market prices and
expected net selling prices.

(a) Assets carried at amortized cost

The Group assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognized shall not be included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

If an asset carried at amortized cost is determined to be impaired, the amount of the loss shall be
measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a
variable interest rate was used, the discounted rate for measuring the impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate. Impairment loss is recorded in profit or loss.
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If in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss shall
be reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss shall be recognized in profit or loss, to the
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.

(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is evidence that an asset classified as
available-for-sale is impaired. In the case of available-for-sale debt instruments, objective evidence of
impairment is assessed in the same manner as for assets carried at amortized cost. For available-for-
sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value shall indicate impairment.
For all financial assets classified as available-for-sale, the amount of impairment loss is the difference
between its current fair value and its original cost. Impairment loss is transferred from equity to profit
or loss. For available-for-sale equity instruments, reversal of previously recognized impairment losses
is not allowed. For available-for-sale debt instruments, reversals of impairment losses shall be reversed
through profit or loss, to the extent that the initial impairment loss was transferred from other
comprehensive income to profit or loss. The reversal must be objectively supported by an increase in
the fair value of the instrument after the impairment loss was recognized.

2.5.5 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.6 Land held for development and sale

Land held for development and sale are stated at lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes
charges for acquisition, construction, development and improvement of the properties. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price less cost to complete and sell.

Upon disposal, the asset accounts are relieved of the pertinent costs of acquisition and improvements,
and provision for decline in value, if any, and the related realized profit on sale is recognized in profit or
loss.

Land held for development and sale is derecognized and charged to cost of sales in profit or loss upon
sale.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, excluding land, quarry land and construction in progress, are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any impairment losses. Land is stated at cost
less any impairment losses. Construction in progress is stated at cost and is not depreciated until such
time the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use.

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment is comprised of the purchase price and costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to their intended use. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the
cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located. Borrowing costs related to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets
are capitalized as part of that asset.
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Subsequent expenditures incurred after the assets have been put into operation are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the period
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, as follows:

Years

Buildings and improvements 20
Plant site improvements 3 to 20
Machinery and equipment 3 to 10
Transportation and rolling equipment 3 to 5
Furniture and fixtures 1 to 2

The useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the
periods and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of
economic benefits from items of property, plant and equipment.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use. No further charge
for depreciation is made in respect of those assets.

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized on disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. When assets are derecognized, their
cost, accumulated depreciation and amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any, are
eliminated from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in profit or loss of such period.

2.8 Investment property

Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not
occupied by the Group, are classified as investment property. Investment properties comprise land and
improvements, building and improvements, and parking improvements leased out under operating
lease agreements.
Recognition of investment property takes place only when it is probable that the future economic
benefits that are associated with the property will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured
reliably. This is usually the day when all risks and rewards are transferred to the Group.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Cost is the fair value of
the consideration given to acquire the property which includes transaction costs such as legal fees and
taxes on the purchase of the property. The cost of a self-constructed asset includes all directly attributable
costs required to bring the property to its required working condition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property, except land, is carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Land is carried at cost less any impairment losses.
Subsequent expenditure should demonstrably enhance the original asset to qualify for asset recognition.
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.
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Depreciation and amortization on investment property, except land, is recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Years

Land improvements 10
Condominium unit 10

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified as
investment property under construction in progress. Construction in progress is stated at cost and
depreciated only when the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. Upon completion,
these properties are reclassified to an appropriate investment property account.

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by:

(a) commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied
property;

(b) commencement of development with a view of sale, for a transfer from investment property to real
properties held-for-sale and development;

(c) end of owner occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property; or
(d) commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a transfer from real properties held-for-

sale and development to investment property.

Transfers to investment property do not result in gain or loss.

Investment property is derecognized when it has either been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal. Gains
or loss on derecognition of investment property is calculated as the difference between any disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the related asset and is recognized in profit or loss in the year of
derecognition.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, investment property, investments in subsidiaries and other non-financial
assets that have finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized
in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that are impaired are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.10 Trade payables and accrued expenses and other liabilities

Trade payables and accrued expenses and other liabilities are recognized in the period in which the
related goods or services are received or when a legally enforceable claim against the Group is
established.

Trade payables and accrued expenses and other liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.
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2.11 Share capital

Common shares are classified as share capital.

Share premium includes any premiums or consideration received in excess of par value on the issuance
of share capital.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in capital funds
as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax.

2.12 Dividend distribution

The Group pays cash dividend as its cash position permits and retains that portion of earnings needed
in development projects and other business requirements.

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognized as a liability in the financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent Company.

Stock dividends are recognized in the financial statements at declaration date.

2.13 Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing income applicable to common shares by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the year with retroactive adjustments for stock
dividends. Diluted EPS is computed in the same manner as basic EPS; however, net income
attributable to common shares and the weighted average number of shares outstanding are adjusted for
the effects of all dilutive potential common shares.

2.14 Revenue and expense recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax and
discount.

The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is possible that
future economic benefits will flow into the Group and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measured
until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on
historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Royalty

Royalty income is earned from a fixed percentage of the monthly sales and volume report.

(b) Sale of undeveloped and developed properties

In 2010, the Group started the development of its Sto. Tomas property into a “Leisure farm.”

Revenue from sale of undeveloped and developed properties will be recognized when risks and rewards of
ownership on the asset is transferred to the buyer. Accordingly, collections arising from pre-selling
activities will be recorded as deposits under the ‘Deferred income and deposits’ account.
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For tax reporting purposes, revenue from sale of developed properties is recognized in full upon collection
of at least 25% of total contract price in the year of sale. Otherwise, revenue from sale will be deferred and
recognized as income based on collection of installments.

(c) Interest

Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(d) Costs and expenses

Costs and expenses are recorded when incurred.

Other operating income/expense is recognized when earned/incurred.

2.15 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognized when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligations;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as
interest expense.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements but they are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not
recognized in the financial statements unless realization of income is virtually certain. It is disclosed in
the notes to financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

2.16 Income taxes

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
losses (net operating loss carryover or NOLCO) and unused tax credits (excess minimum corporate
income tax or MCIT) to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences, NOLCO and MCIT can be utilized. Deferred tax liabilities are
recognized in full for all taxable temporary differences.

The Group reassesses at each reporting date the need to recognize a previously unrecognized deferred
income tax asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

2.17 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as
the related service is provided.

(b) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination when the entity has a detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of current
employees without possibility of withdrawal. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the reporting date are discounted to
present value.

(c) Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Group’s shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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2.18 Leases

2.18.1 The Group as the lessor

(a) Operating lease

Properties leased out under operating leases are included in “Investment property” in the balance
sheet. Rental income under operating leases is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.

(b) Finance lease

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognized
as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is
recognized as unearned finance income.

Lease income under finance lease is recognized over the term of the lease using the net investment
method before tax, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

2.18.2 The Group as the lessee

(a) Operating lease

Leases in which substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are retained by another party, the
lessor, are classified as operating leases. Payments, including prepayments, made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

(b) Finance lease

Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the lower of the
fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the
finance balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

When the Group enters into an arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of related
transactions, that does not take the legal form of a lease but conveys the right to use an asset or is
dependent on the use of specific asset or assets, the Group assesses whether the arrangement is, or
contains, a lease. The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the
substance of the arrangement. In such cases, when the Group has assessed that the arrangement is, or
contains, a lease, the Group accounts for it as either an operating or a finance lease.
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2.19 Related party relationships and transactions

Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or among
entities which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between, and/or among the
reporting enterprise and its key management personnel and directors. In considering each possible
related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the
legal form.

2.20 Foreign currency transactions and translations

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are
presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Philippine Peso using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash and cash equivalents are presented in profit or
loss within other income/expense.

2.21 Events after the reporting date

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the reporting
date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end events that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material.

2.22 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief executive officer who allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating
segments of the Group.

All transactions between business segments and intra-segment revenue and costs are eliminated upon
consolidation. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are included in determining
business segment performance.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group has only one operating segment, which is
the quarrying business. Selling of unused properties is deemed one-time transaction, non-recurring in
nature, thus, not part of the Group’s ordinary business operations.
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Note 3 - Financial risk and capital management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze these risks and to monitor
the risks by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practices.

The President and General Manager, under the direction of the Board of Directors, are responsible for
the management of financial risks. Its objective is to minimize adverse impacts on the Group’s
financial performance due to the unpredictability of financial markets.

3.1 Financial risk management

3.1.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the Group by failing to
discharge an obligation. Significant changes in the economy, or in the prospects of a particular industry
segment that may represent a concentration in the Group’s business, could result in losses that are
different from those provided for at the reporting date. Management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk. With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Group,
which comprise mainly of cash and cash equivalents, the credit risk is considered negligible since the
counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

The maximum credit risk exposure relating to significant financial assets in the balance sheet is as
follows:

Notes 2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand) 5 94,837,123 89,942,295

Receivables

Due from BAAC 6 4,768,337 25,981,812

Due from OCLP 6, 20 - 2,019,098

Other receivables, net 6 1,529,054 1,735,619

Installment receivable 20 104,993,123 245,217,522

Other non-current assets

Miscellaneous deposits 11 2,479,491 1,691,990

208,607,128 366,588,336

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for receivables noted above. There were no financial
assets whose terms were renegotiated.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

The Group manages credit risk on its cash in banks and cash equivalents by placing investments in
banks that qualified in the criteria of the Group. Some of these criteria are stability, financial
performance, industry-accepted ratings, quality, diversity and responsiveness of products and services.
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As at December 31, 2010, the Group’s cash in bank and cash equivalents amounting to P94.79 million
(2009 - P89.94 million) are maintained in universal banks (Note 5).

(b) Receivables

The Group has an exposure to credit risk specifically on receivables arising from the previous
discontinued quarrying operations.

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The table
below summarizes the credit quality of the Group’s receivables:

Neither Past Due nor Impaired Past Due
But Not

Impaired Impaired TotalHigh Grade
Standard

Grade

2010
Cash and cash equivalents 94,837,123 - - - 94,837,123
Receivables

Due from BAAC 4,768,337 - - - 4,768,337
Other receivables, gross 1,529,054 - - 26,726,996 28,256,050

Installment receivable 104,993,123 - - - 104,993,123
Other non-current assets

Miscellaneous deposits 2,479,491 - - - 2,479,491

208,607,128 - - 26,726,996 235,334,124

2009
Cash and cash equivalents 89,942,295 - - - 89,942,295
Receivables

Due from BAAC 25,981,812 - - - 25,981,812
Due from OCLP 2,019,098 - - - 2,019,098
Other receivables, gross 1,735,619 - - 26,890,355 28,625,974

Installment receivable 245,217,522 - - - 245,217,522
Other non-current assets

Miscellaneous deposits 1,691,990 - - - 1,691,990

366,588,336 - - 26,890,355 393,478,691

High grade rating is given to those counterparties with no history of default. On the other hand,
standard grade rating is given to customers with low collection risk, with history of default but
eventually collected.

As discussed above, bulk of the accounts that have allowance for doubtful refers to receivables with the
discontinued Engineering and Construction division in which the Group as at the present continue to
exert means to collect.

3.1.2 Market risks

Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings or future cash flows arising from changes in the price of
a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument may change as a result of changes in equity
prices, interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and other market changes.

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is insignificant as it has no assets, liabilities or
transactions denominated in foreign currency.
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(a) Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates, while fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The Group is not exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk as there are no variable-interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its installment contract receivable entered with its
parent Group. Exposure to interest rate risk is not significant as the material amount of installment
contract receivable bears fixed rates and is carried at amortized cost. The Group does not enter into
derivatives contract to manage interest rate risks.

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk because of investments held by the Group. Equity price risk
arises because of fluctuations in market prices of equity securities. Exposure to price risk is deemed
negligible. The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk.

3.1.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its
financial liabilities when they fall due. The consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay
creditors and fulfill commitments.

The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by the
Accounting Department includes:

 Day-to-day funding requirement, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that
requirements can be met;

 Efficient cash collection program;
 Monitoring liquidity ratios in the balance sheet against internal requirements; and
 Managing the profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day,
week and month, respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point
for these projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the
expected collection date of the financial assets.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
December 31, 2010 and 2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments:

Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months Total

2010
Trade payables - 8,038,826 8,038,826
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Dividends payable - 11,022,239 11,022,239
Accrued expenses 2,363,321 3,657,667 6,020,988
Due to OCLP 289,818 - 289,818
Other payables - 742,250 742,250

2,653,139 23,460,982 26,114,121
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Given the limited amount of financial liabilities, management does not foresee any liquidity risk.

3.2 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying values and estimated fair values and classifications of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are presented below:

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009

Carrying
Values

Fair
Values

Carrying
Values

Fair
Values

Financial assets
Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents 94,976,132 94,976,132 90,151,064 90,151,064
Receivables

Due from BAAC 4,768,337 4,768,337 25,981,812 25,981,812
Due from OCLP - - 2,019,098 2,019,098
Other receivables, net 1,529,054 1,529,054 1,735,619 1,735,619

Installment receivable 104,993,123 104,993,123 245,217,522 245,217,522
Other non-current assets

Miscellaneous deposits 2,479,492 2,479,492 1,691,990 1,691,990

208,746,138 208,746,138 366,797,105 366,797,105

Available-for-sale financial assets
Quoted equity investments 792,410 792,410 792,410 792,410
Unquoted equity investments 322,670 322,670 322,670 322,670

1,115,080 1,115,080 1,115,080 1,115,080

Total financial assets 209,861,218 209,861,218 367,912,185 367,912,185

Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities

Trade payables 8,038,826 8,038,826 8,025,625 8,025,625
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Dividends payable 11,022,239 11,022,239 13,899,188 13,899,188
Accrued expenses 6,020,988 6,020,988 8,707,899 8,707,899
Due to OCLP 289,818 289,818 - -
Others 742,250 742,250 387,500 387,500

Total financial liabilities 26,114,121 26,114,121 31,020,212 31,020,212

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, installment receivable, miscellaneous
deposits, trade payables, accrued expenses and other liabilities approximate their fair values due to
relatively short-term maturities of these financial instruments.

The fair values of the available-for-sale financial assets are quoted market bid price at the close of
business. Available-for-sale financial assets with no available market prices are carried at cost less
allowance for any impairment, since the fair values are not readily determinable.

Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months Total

2009
Trade payables - 8,025,625 8,025,625
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Dividends payable - 13,899,188 13,899,188
Accrued expenses 2,719,739 5,988,160 8,707,899
Other payables - 387,500 387,500

2,719,739 28,300,473 31,020,212
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The fair value of the installment receivable is the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at prevailing market interest
rate. The discount rate ranges from 5.54% to 7.75% in 2010 and 2009.

3.3 Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other
stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group’s capital consists of total equity in the balance sheets. There are no externally imposed
capital requirements.

Note 4 - Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments

Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates, assumptions and
judgments that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(a) Impairment loss on other receivables (Note 6)

A provision for impairment of other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganization, and default or delinquency in payments are considered as indicators that the
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.

The amount and timing of recorded provision for impairment of receivables for any period would differ
if the Group made different assumptions or utilized different estimates. Hence, management considers
it impracticable to disclose with sufficient reliability the possible effects of sensitivities surrounding
impairment of other receivables.

As at December 31, 2010, allowance for impairment loss on other receivables amounted to P27.53
million (2009 - P27.70 million). The carrying amount of other receivables amounted to P1.53 million as
at December 31, 2010 (2009 - P1.74 million). Management believes that the carrying amount of
receivables is fully recoverable.
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(b) Estimated useful lives of long-lived assets (Notes 9 and 10)

The useful life of each of the Group’s property and equipment and investment property is estimated
based on the period over which the asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation is based
on a collective assessment of practices of similar businesses, internal technical evaluation and
experience with similar assets. The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed periodically and
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the asset. It is possible however, that
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the amounts and timing or
recorded expenses brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the
estimated useful life of any item of property and equipment and investment property would increase
the recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets.

As the Group has a significant number of long-lived assets with varying useful lives, estimation of
sensitivity of depreciation expense to possible changes in useful lives is deemed impracticable.

Property, plant and equipment have a net carrying amount of P64.01 million at December 31, 2010
(2009 - P63.46 million). Investment property have a net carrying amount of P11.17 million at December
31, 2010 (2009 - P68.21 million).

There is no change in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and investment
property for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

4.2 Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies

(a) Recognition of lump sum royalty fee (Note 23)

The Group previously recognized in 2008 the lump sum portion of the royalty fee on a straight-line
basis over the effectivity period of its Operating Agreement with the Consortium/BAAC. At that time,
management believed that the Group would earn this lump-sum royalty over the duration of the
Consortium/BAAC’s quarrying operations. However, upon subsequent review and fulfillment of
conditions contained in the Amendment to the Agreement and confirmation with the
Consortium/BAAC regarding their acceptance on the fulfillment of such conditions, management was
of the view that the unamortized lump sum portion of the royalty amounting to P288.33 million should
be recognized as earned in 2009. As at December 31, 2009, no more conditions exist that would affect
the full recognition of the unamortized portion as income for the year.

(b) Impairment of long-lived assets (Notes 9 and 10)

The Group determines whether there are indicators of impairment on its investment properties, and
property, plant and equipment, at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of recoverable
amount which is higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use. Estimating
the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
CGU and also to choose an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. Estimating the fair value less cost to sell is based on the information available to reflect the
amount that the Group could obtain as at the balance sheet date. In determining this amount, the
Group considers the outcome of recent transactions for similar assets within the same industry.

As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, management’s assessment did not disclose any impairment
indicators.
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(c) Recognition of deferred tax assets (Note 19)

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each balance sheet date and reduces
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. The Group has recognized deferred
tax assets amounting to P8.07 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and P73.30 million as at
December 31, 2008.

(d) Provisions and contingencies (Note 24)

The Parent Company is a party to certain lawsuits or claims arising from the ordinary course of
business. However, the Parent Company’s management and the legal counsel believe that the eventual
liabilities under these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, no provision for probable losses arising from contingencies was
recognized in the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2010 and 2009.

Note 5 - Cash and cash equivalents

This account at December 31 consists of:

2010 2009

Cash in banks 9,499,752 14,942,295
Cash on hand 139,009 208,769
Short-term placements 85,337,371 75,000,000

94,976,132 90,151,064

Cash in banks consist of current and savings deposits with banks which earn interest at the respective
bank deposit rates. The short-term placements consist of time deposits which are made for varying
periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn
interest ranging from 2% to 4% per annum in 2010 (2009 - 3.20%).

Interest income arising from savings and time deposits amounted to P3.05 million in 2010 (2009 -
P0.80 million; 2008 - P5.07 million).

Cash in banks include deposit to a related party amounting to P5.69 million as at December 31, 2010
(2009 - P12.69 million) as discussed in Note 20.
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Note 6 - Receivables

This account at December 31 consists of:

Notes 2010 2009

Current portion of installment receivable 20 20,762,961 27,118,010
Due from OCLP 20 - 2,019,098
Due from BAAC 23

Basic royalty 4,238,337 2,785,145
Lump sum royalty - 22,666,667
Others 530,000 530,000

Other receivables 28,256,050 28,625,974

53,787,348 83,744,894
Less allowance for impairment loss (26,726,996) (26,890,355)

27,060,352 56,854,539

As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, other receivables include P17.12 million pertaining to receivables of
the Company’s discontinued Engineering and Construction Division, which has been fully provided for.

Movements in and details of the allowance for impairment on receivables follow:

Notes 2010 2009 2008

Balance at January 1 26,890,355 27,674,541 76,766,948
Provisions 15 - - 620,676
Reversals 18 (163,359) (784,186) (3,736,193)
Write-offs - - (45,976,890)

Balance at December 31 26,726,996 26,890,355 27,674,541

Note 7 - Land held for development and sale

In 2010, the Group started the development of its 10-hectare property in Sto. Tomas, Batangas into a
leisure farm. The leisure farm project is expected to produce 60 individual farm lots with 25% of the
each farm lot area devoted only to residential purposes and the rest for vegetable farming.

The balance of the account at December 31, 2010 represents the cost of the land previously recorded as
part of the Investment property account and the development costs incurred in 2010.

Note 2010 2009

Reclassification from investment property 10 38,767,851 -
Development costs incurred during the year 3,532,297 -

42,300,148 -

There were no disposals or sales in 2010.
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Note 8 - Other current assets

This account at December 31 consists of:

2010 2009

Creditable income tax 11,431,483 13,919,778
Input value-added tax 114,746 2,385,319
Prepaid expenses 260,732 278,980

11,806,961 16,584,077

The movements in creditable income tax are presented below:

Note 2010 2009

Balance at January 1 13,279,769 33,957,893
Tax withheld by customers 2,281,091 5,672,286
Applied to income tax payable 19 (4,129,377) (25,710,401)

Balance at December 31 11,431,483 13,919,778



Note 9 - Property, plant and equipment

Details of property, plant and equipment at December 31 and their movements during the year follow:

Land
Quarry
Land

Buildings
and

Improvements
Plant Site

Improvements

Machinery
and

Equipment

Transportation
and Rolling
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fixtures Total

(Amounts in thousands)

Gross carrying amount
January 1, 2009 42,285 16,209 7,688 259 3,401 20,701 835 91,378
Additions - - 128 - 17 - - 145
Disposals - - - - - (14,485) - (14,485)

December 31, 2009 42,285 16,209 7,816 259 3,418 6,216 835 77,038
Additions - - 236 291 767 38 1,332

December 31, 2010 42,285 16,209 8,052 259 3,709 6,983 873 78,370

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization
January 1, 2009 - - 2,797 50 3,401 19,771 334 26,353
Depreciation and

amortization - - 358 86 3 252 370 1,069
Disposals - - - - - (13,841) - (13,841)

December 31, 2009 - - 3,155 136 3,404 6,182 704 13,581
Depreciation and

amortization - - 245 123 79 195 134 776

December 31, 2010 - - 3,400 259 3,483 6,377 838 14,357

Net carrying amount
December 31, 2009 42,285 16,209 4,661 123 14 34 131 63,457
December 31, 2010 42,285 16,209 4,652 - 226 606 35 64,013
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Note 10 - Investment property

Details of investment property at December 31 and their movements during the year follow:

As at December 31, 2010, the fair value of the land based on latest zonal valuation is P408.8 million;
while the fair value of the condominium unit based on management’s internal valuation is P6.2 million.

In 2010, income from investment properties amounted to P1.6 million, while expenses consisting
mostly of real property taxes and security services amounted to P6.2 million.

Depreciation and amortization recognized in profit or loss arose from the following:

Notes 2010 2009 2008

Property, plant and equipment 9 775,913 1,069,230 8,963,564
Investment property 10 905,030 2,797,281 2,788,709
Computerization costs - - 500,478

1,680,943 3,866,511 12,252,751

Depreciation and amortization are distributed as follows:

Notes 2010 2009 2008

General and administrative expenses 15 1,680,943 3,866,511 8,327,901
Cost of sales 14 - - 3,805,231
Selling expenses 16 - - 119,619

1,680,943 3,866,511 12,252,751

Land
Land

Improvements
Condominium

Unit
Construction
in Progress Total

Gross carrying amount
January 1, 2009 65,835,055 15,202,640 19,341,883 - 100,379,578
Additions 784,175 300,233 - - 1,084,408

December 31, 2009 66,619,230 15,502,873 19,341,883 - 101,463,986
Additions 2,618,277 185,669 - 164,312 2,968,258
Disposals (20,335,165) - - - (20,335,165)
Reclassification (38,696,551) (71,300) - - (38,767,851)

December 31, 2010 10,205,791 15,617,242 19,341,883 164,312 45,329,228

Accumulated
depreciation and
amortization
January 1, 2009 - 13,279,283 17,177,237 - 30,456,520
Depreciation and

amortization - 1,436,797 1,360,484 - 2,797,281

December 31, 2009 - 14,716,080 18,537,721 - 33,253,801
Depreciation and

amortization - 100,868 804,162 - 905,030

December 31, 2010 - 14,816,948 19,341,883 - 34,158,831

Net carrying amount

December 31, 2009 66,619,230 786,793 804,162 - 68,210,185
December 31, 2010 10,205,791 800,294 - 164,312 11,170,397
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Note 11 - Other non-current assets

This account at December 31 consists of:

2010 2009

Mine rehabilitation fund 5,246,654 5,246,654
Miscellaneous deposits 2,479,491 1,691,990
Available-for-sale financial assets 1,115,080 1,115,080
Others 99,982 -

8,941,207 8,053,724

Pursuant to the requirements of Republic Act (RA) No. 7942, otherwise known as “The Philippine
Mining Act of 1995”, the Group maintains a mine rehabilitation fund (MRF) with the Land Bank of the
Philippines. The MRF shall be used for the physical and social rehabilitation of areas affected by the
Group’s quarrying activities, and for research in the social, technical and preventive aspects of the mine
rehabilitation. Under the Group’s Operating Agreement with BAAC (see Note 23a), BAAC shall have the
exclusive right to manage, operate and provide additional MRF as may be required by applicable laws
and regulations; provided that the MRF will remain in the name of the Group as the contracting party to
the MPSA.

Miscellaneous deposits pertain to cash deposits in escrow fund set aside for settlement of labor cases
filed by former employees.

Available-for-sale financial assets include investments in golf club shares and listed equity securities, as
follows:

2010 2009

Quoted equity investments 792,410 792,410
Unquoted equity investments 322,670 322,670

Balance at December 31 1,115,080 1,115,080

Movements in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets follow:

2010 2009 2008

Balance at January 1 1,115,080 1,181,970 1,821,875
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets - 3,110 (143,012)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets - (70,000) (470,000)
Related deferred income tax - - (26,893)

Balance at December 31 1,115,080 1,115,080 1,181,970

Movements in fair value reserve on available-for-sale financial assets follow:

2010 2009 2008

Balance at January 1 152,140 149,030 292,042
Fair value gain (loss) on available-for-sale financial assets - 3,110 (603,012)
Transfer of fair value loss due to impairment - - 460,000

Balance at December 31 152,140 152,140 149,030



(32)

Note 12 - Accrued expenses and other liabilities

This account at December 31 consists of:

Note 2010 2009

Dividends payable 11,022,239 13,899,188
Accrued expenses 6,020,988 8,707,899
Payable to government agencies 131,400 116,379
Due to OCLP 20 289,818 -
Other payables 742,250 1,301,208

18,206,695 24,024,674

Dividends payable represents unclaimed dividend checks as at year-end. Accrued expenses represent
various incurred but unpaid expenses in the ordinary course of business.

Note 13 - Equity

Details of the Parent Company’s share capital as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Class A Class B Total

Common shares, P10 par value
Authorized shares

Number of shares 40,000,000 10,000,000 50,000,000
Amount 400,000,000 100,000,000 500,000,000

Issued and outstanding shares
Number of shares 22,077,771 5,388,678 27,466,449
Amount 220,777,710 53,886,780 274,664,490

As at December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, issued and outstanding share capital of the Parent Company
is held by 639 shareholders (2009 - 645; 2008 - 640).

In 1973, upon securing the approval of the Philippine SEC, the Parent Company’s common shares were
officially listed and offered to the public through the local exchange on April 2, 1973. There was no other
share offering since then.

Class A and Class B common shares have the same rights and privileges. Class A common shares shall
be issued solely to Filipino citizens, while Class B common shares may be issued to Filipino and non-
Filipino citizens.

As at December 31, 2010, there are 22,077,771 listed and outstanding Class A common shares, of which
5,988,797 are floating shares (2009 - 5,997,747), whereas there are 5,388,678 listed and outstanding
lass B common shares (2009 - 5,388,678), of which 402,975 are floating shares (2009 - 403,066). The
latest closing price for Class A common shares as at December 31 2010 was recorded at P65 per share
(2009 - P81 per share), while Class B common shares have never been traded since their listing date.
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Cash dividends were declared as authorized by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors to
shareholders as follows:

Date Declared
Shareholders of

Record as at Paid On
Amount

per Share Amount

July 31, 2010 August 12, 2010 August 31, 2010 7.28 199,955,749
November 4, 2009 November 18, 2009 November 23, 2009 19.11 524,883,838
June 6, 2008 June 24, 2008 July 15, 2008 29.12 799,822,995

On March 25, 2010, the Parent Company’s Board of Directors authorized the appropriation of
P70 million from unappropriated retained earnings for the development of land located in Sto. Tomas,
Batangas to a leisure farm (Note 6).

During the year, the Parent Company has started the development of its Sto. Tomas property and has
incurred capital expenditures amounting to P23.47 million arising directly from the land development,
thereby reducing the appropriated retained earnings to P46.53 million as at the balance sheet date.
Consequently, on April 14, 2011, management recommended to the Board of Directors the reversion of
P46.53 million appropriated retained earnings back to unappropriated retained earnings.

Note 14 - Cost of aggregates sold

Cost of sales relates to the production costs relating to the Group’s quarrying operation for the period
from January 1, 2008 to June 1, 2008.

Notes 2008

Extraction cost 23 45,081,749
Fuel, oil and lubricants 15,545,999
Personnel costs 17 9,799,768

Power, light and water 9,456,422

Repairs and maintenance 9,063,767
Security and janitorial services 8,029,220

Taxes and licenses 5,284,806
Rent 23 4,450,709
Depreciation and amortization 9, 10 3,805,231

Insurance 241,668
Others 3,464,486

114,223,825
Add mine products inventory at January 1 13,008,658

Total goods available for sale 127,232,483
Less mine products inventory at December 31 -

127,232,483

In June 2008, the Group’s quarrying operation was taken over by the Consortium in accordance with
the Share Purchase Agreement entered between the Group and the Consortium (Note 23).
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Note 15 - General and administrative expenses

This account for the years ended December 31 consists of:

Notes 2010 2009 2008

Professional fees 20 4,676,224 9,790,685 47,409,349
Security and janitorial 3,892,363 4,270,070 9,446,319
Taxes and licenses 3,469,363 8,054,631 8,579,536
Personnel costs 17 2,210,560 3,335,976 9,049,808
Depreciation and amortization 9,10 1,680,943 3,866,511 8,327,901
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 563,423 916,922 2,380,643
Repairs and maintenance 479,033 934,826 7,054,482
Transportation and communication 426,861 716,504 1,330,470
Insurance 277,090 314,294 422,046
Fuel, oil and lubricants 238,615 288,055 822,473
Power, light and water 183,515 121,314 943,944
Supplies - 142,625 656,071
Rent - - 550,829
Provision for impairment of receivables 6 - - 1,427,897
Others 1,178,805 2,068,972 12,352,332

19,276,795 34,821,385 110,754,100

Note 16 - Selling expenses

This account for the year ended December 31, 2008 consists of:

Notes 2008

Freight and handling costs 23 5,105,367
Personnel costs 17 2,080,955

Entertainment, amusement and recreation 946,037
Advertising and promotions 624,802

Transportation and communication 372,753

Repairs and maintenance 339,233

Supplies 304,571
Fuel, oil and lubricants 249,776

Depreciation and amortization 9,10 119,619
Insurance 40,617
Securities and utilities 25,948

Taxes and licenses 2,824

Others 661,399

10,873,901
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Note 17 - Personnel costs

Personnel costs are summarized as follows:

Notes 2010 2009 2008

General and administrative expenses 15 2,210,560 3,335,976 9,049,808
Cost of sales 14 - - 9,799,768
Selling expenses 16 - - 2,080,955

2,210,560 3,335,976 20,930,531

Details of the above account are shown below:

2010 2009 2008

Salaries and wages 1,098,679 1,148,000 15,313,763
Other benefits 1,111,881 2,187,976 5,616,768

2,210,560 3,335,976 20,930,531

As disclosed in Note 23, the Group entered into an Operating Agreement, constituting the transfer of
quarrying operations, including employees, to BAAC in 2008. Consequently, the Group settled its
retirement obligation to almost all of its employees amounting to P29.95 million. In addition, the
Group’s retirement plan assets amounting to P3.68 million were returned to the Group in 2009. The
Group has only 2 employees as at December 31, 2010.

Note 18 - Other income

Details of other income and charges are as follows:

Notes 2010 2009 2008

Other income
Interest income on installment receivable 20 18,209,327 55,706,011 57,260,627
Gain on sale of property 11,006,409 7,830,958 67,808,095
Interest income on bank deposits, net of

final tax 5 3,052,845 796,600 5,072,237
Interest income on lump sum royalty 23 1,056,950 1,630,666 -
Reversal of allowance for impairment of

receivables 6 163,359 784,186 3,736,193
Gain on sale of investment in a subsidiary 23 - - 369,004,950
Reversal of retrenchment cost - - 5,954,496
Others, net 1,834,701 3,219,723 26,500,679

35,323,591 69,968,144 535,337,277

Other charges
Impairment loss on non-current assets

held for sale - (24,654,631) (4,723,369)
Miscellaneous deposits written-off - (3,066,825) -
Interest expense - (1,222,851) (1,979,462)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale

financial assets 11 - (70,000) (470,000)
Foreign exchange loss, net - - (19,685)

- (29,014,307) (7,192,516)

35,323,591 40,953,837 528,144,761



(36)

(a) Gain on sale of property

In 2010, proceeds from disposal of investment property with a net carrying amount of P20.3 million
(Note 10) amounted to P31.3 million, resulting in a gain of P11.0 million.

In 2009, proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of P0.6
million (Note 9) amounted to P8.4 million, resulting in a gain of P7.8 million.

In 2008, pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreements with BAAC (Note 23), the Group sold certain non-
current assets held for sale with a net carrying amount of P124.8 million and property, plant and
equipment with a net carrying amount of P26.3 million for a total consideration of P217.6 million,
resulting in a gain of P66.5 million.

(b) Impairment loss on non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale as at December 31, 2008 amounting to P24.6 million were impaired
and recognized as impairment loss in 2009 (2008 - P4.7 million).

(c) Interest expense

Interest expense in 2009 and 2008 relates to a short-term peso-denominated unsecured bank loan with
interest rates ranging from 7.7% to 8.0% in 2009 (2008 - 6.0% to 8.0%). The bank loan, amounting to
P50.0 million contracted in 2008, was paid in full in 2009.

Note 19 - Income taxes

The provision for income tax for the years ended December 31 consists of:

2010 2009 2008

Current 4,129,377 25,710,401 70,337,015
Deferred - 65,237,649 1,593,018

4,129,377 90,948,050 71,930,033

As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group’s net deferred tax asset represents the tax effects of
deductible and taxable temporary differences on the following items:

2010 2009

Deferred tax asset
Allowance for impairment of other receivables 8,067,106 8,067,106

Deferred tax liability
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (1,381) (1,381)

Net deferred tax asset 8,065,725 8,065,725

Net deferred tax asset is expected to be recovered beyond 12 months after the reporting date.
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The reconciliation of provision for income tax computed at the statutory income tax rate to the
provision for income tax recognized in the statements of total comprehensive income is as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Provision for income tax computed at statutory
income tax rate 9,811,345 92,646,304 174,859,363

Adjustments to income tax resulting from:
Gain on sale of investment property

subjected to final tax (3,301,923) - (129,151,733)
Accretion income (1,463,671) (1,553,661) (1,771,219)
Interest income subjected to final tax (915,853) (238,980) (1,775,283)
Dividend income exempt from tax (521) (4,192) (374)
Non-deductible interest expense - 98,579 692,812
Deductible temporary differences for which

deferred tax assets were recognized in prior
year, reversed during the year - - 18,481,221

Effect of change in tax rate - - 12,052,510
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial

assets - - 164,500
Reversal of accrual per business tax on Longos

property - - (2,385,541)
Provision for probable losses on investments in

subsidiaries - - 763,777

Provision for income tax 4,129,377 90,948,050 71,930,033

Recent tax laws

(a) On May 24, 2005, the new Expanded Value-Added Tax (E-VAT) Law was signed as RA No. 9337 or
the E-VAT Act of 2005, which took effect on November 1, 2005. Among the relevant provisions of
RA No. 9337 are:

i. Change in RCIT rate from 32% to 35% for the next three years effective on November 1, 2005,
and 30% starting January 1, 2009 and thereafter; and,

ii. Change in nondeductible interest expense rate from 38% to 42% of interest income subjected to
final tax for the next three years effective on November 1, 2005, and 33% starting January 1,
2009 and thereafter.

(b) Effective July 1, 2008, RA No. 9504 was approved giving corporate taxpayers an option to claim
optional standard deduction (OSD) equivalent to 40% of gross income. Once the option to use OSD
is made, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which the option was made. In 2010, 2009
and 2008, the Group opted to continue claiming itemized standard deductions.
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Note 20 - Related party transactions

(a) In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions with related parties as
follows:

(b) In November 2007, OCLP purchased the Group’s 12 hectares of land located in Longos,
Bagumbayan, Quezon City for P1.13 billion, with P260 million downpayment and the remaining
balance payable in forty (40) equal quarterly payments starting April 2009 at interest of 6% per
annum on the principal. The fair value of the installment receivable from OCLP amounted to
P835.26 million resulting in a “Day 1 loss” of P34.74 million.

The following table shows the subsequent amortization of the Day 1 loss:

Interest income on installment receivable recognized for the years ended December 31 includes:

In July 2010, OCLP purchased the Group’s property located in Tatala, Binangonan, Rizal consisting
of land with a total area of 4.4 hectares, more or less, for a consideration of P30.9 million, with a
P3.09 million downpayment and the remaining balance payable in three (3) equal annual payments
starting July 2011 at 6% interest per annum on the principal.

The movements in the installment receivable account are presented below:

Related party Relationship

OCLP Parent company

Greenhills Shopping Center Development, Inc. Under common control

Frontera Verde, Inc. Under common control

Circulo Verde Development Corp. Under common control

Capitol Commons Corp. Under common control

2010 2009 2008

Balance at January 1 24,499,285 29,678,153 34,738,780
Accretion during the year (4,878,904) (5,178,868) (5,060,627)

Balance at December 31 19,620,381 24,499,285 29,678,153

2010 2009 2008

Nominal interest income 13,330,423 50,527,143 52,200,000
Accretion income 4,878,904 5,178,868 5,060,627

18,209,327 55,706,011 57,260,627

2010 2009

Balance at January 1 245,217,522 840,321,847
Receivable from sale of land 27,847,890 -
Installments collected in advance (150,000,000) (525,000,000)
Collections of installment due (22,951,193) (75,283,193)
Accretion income 4,878,904 5,178,868

Balance at December 31 104,993,123 245,217,522
Less current portion 20,762,961 27,118,010

84,230,162 218,099,512
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On August 27, 2010 and November 23, 2009, the Group received from OCLP the amounts of P150.0
million and P525.0 million, respectively, representing installments collected in advance of due
dates. Interest income on installment receivable recognized in 2010 amounted to P13.33 million
(2009 - P50.53 million).

(c) In 2005, the Group entered into a Management Agreement with OCLP. The monthly management
fee is P0.10 million, inclusive of VAT, plus an additional fee of 5% of incremental audited net
income after tax.

On December 4, 2009, Amendment to the Management Agreement was executed taking into
consideration the Operating Agreement entered into by the Group resulting in a scaling down of its
business operations. The amendments state that the Group shall pay OCLP the following:

 A monthly fee of P0.10 million effective June 1, 2008, subject to annual escalation fee of 5% or
the average inflation rate for the immediately preceding year, whichever is higher.

 A supervision fee amounting to 12.5% of the total proceeds of the sale in case OCLP actively
participates in the development of real property owned by Group.

The additional fee of 5% of incremental audited net income after tax has been waived.

Total management fee recognized in 2010 amounted to P1.33 million (2009 - P0.75 million;
2008 - P26.6 million), included as part of Professional fees in profit or loss. The outstanding
balance due to OCLP, which was recorded under the Accrued expenses and other liabilities account
in the consolidated balance sheets, amounted to P0.29 million as at December 31, 2010 (2008 -
P43.44 million).

Invoices for management fee carry a 30-day term.

(d) The Group has a banking relationship with a related party. The total cash deposit maintained with
the related party amounted to P5.69 million as at December 31, 2010 (2009 - P12.69 million; 2008
- P11.3 million).

(e) In the normal course of business, the Group grants advances to related parties. These are non-
interest bearing, unsecured and due on demand.

Outstanding balances of due from/to OCLP, parent company, as at December 31 are as follows:

Notes 2010 2009

Due from OCLP 6 - 2,019,098
Due to OCLP 12 289,818 -

(f) The compensation of key management personnel, which includes salaries and short-term benefits,
amounted to P0.99 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 - P0.98 million; 2008 -
P4.2 million). There are no long-term employee benefits granted to key management personnel.
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Note 21 - Basic/diluted earnings per share

Basic/diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Net income for the year 28,848,806 217,872,962 427,411,560
Divided by weighted average number of

common shares outstanding during the year 27,466,449 27,466,449 27,466,449

Basic/diluted earnings per share 1.050 7.932 15.561

The Group does not have dilutive potential common shares as at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008.
Therefore, the basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as at those dates.

Note 22 - Cash used in operations

Details of cash generated from operations for the years ended December 31 follow:

Notes 2010 2009 2008

Income before income tax 32,978,183 308,821,012 499,341,593

Adjustments for:

Interest income on:

Installment receivable 20 (18,209,327) (55,706,011) (57,260,627)

Bank deposits 5, 18 (3,052,845) (796,600) (5,072,237)

Lump sum royalty 23 (1,056,950) (1,630,666) -

Gain on sale of property 9, 18 (11,006,409) (7,830,958) (67,808,095)

Gain on sale of investment in a subsidiary 18 - - (369,004,950)

Depreciation and amortization 15 1,680,943 3,866,511 12,252,751

Impairment loss on:

Non-current assets held for sale 18 - 24,654,631 4,723,369

Available-for-sale financial assets 11, 18 - 70,000 470,000

Interest expense 18 - 1,222,851 1,979,462

Amortization of lump sum royalty fee 23 - (288,333,333) (11,666,667)

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) - (4,602) 19,685

Reversal of impairment of receivables 6, 18 (163,359) (784,186) (2,308,296)

Reversal of retrenchment cost 18 - - (5,954,496)

Provision for losses - - 2,182,221

Operating income (loss) before changes in

operating assets and liabilities 1,170,236 (14,317,991) 1,893,713

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables 935,830 (1,735,680) 51,666,703

Land held for development and sale (3,532,297) - -

Inventories - - 28,429,839

Other current assets 647,739 (1,561,358) 725,406

Increase (decrease) in:

Trade payables 13,201 8,668,673 (7,151,439)

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (2,941,030) (55,521,590) (98,183,348)

(3,706,321) (64,467,946) (22,619,126)
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Note 23 - Significant agreements

(a) Agreement with the Consortium

On January 18, 2008, the Consortium entered into an Agreement (the “Agreement”) with the Group,
providing among others, that by or on the Closing Date, which will be at the end of the period of ninety
(90) days (or such other period as may be agreed upon) counted from the date of execution of the
Agreement:

 The Parent Company shall have incorporated a New Company (NewCo) and have subscribed to all
of the NewCo’s authorized share capital;

 The Parent Company and the NewCo shall have executed an Operating Agreement (see (i) below)
which gives NewCo the right to engage in quarrying operations within the property owned by the
Parent Company in Angono, Rizal;

 The Parent Company and NewCo will execute an Asset Purchase Agreement (see (ii) below) by
virtue of which the Parent Company shall sell to NewCo, and the NewCo shall purchase from the
Parent Company, certain operating assets on an “As Is, Where Is” basis;

 The Parent Company and the Consortium will execute a Share Purchase Agreement (see (iii) below)
for sale by the Parent Company and the purchase by the Consortium of 100% of the outstanding
shares of NewCo;

 The Parent Company and NewCo will execute a Trademark License Agreement (see (iv) below)
granting NewCo a royalty-free, non-assignable and non-transferable license to use certain
trademarks and servicemarks of the Parent Company inside and outside the Philippines; and

The Parent Company and NewCo will execute a Transition Services Agreement (see (v) below)
which sets out the transition assistance services by certain key personnel for a specified period of
time.

(i) Operating Agreement with BAAC

On January 23, 2008, the Group executed an Operating Agreement with BAAC, pursuant to which
BAAC shall, among others:

 Extract aggregates at least at the minimum extraction rate, which means 1.6 million metric tons
(MMT) (or 1.06 million cubic meters) per annum at the ECC maximum extraction limit of 2.7 MMT
(or 1.8 million cubic meters) per annum at the time the Operating Agreement was executed and
after the second anniversary date of the approval by the Department of Environment and Natural
Resources (DENR) of the Parent Company’s application for increase of the maximum extraction
limit from 2.7 MMT to 5.25MMT (or 3.6 million cubic meters), means 2.6 MMT per annum (or 1.74
million cubic meters).

 Conduct quarrying operations for a period of fifteen (15) years: (i) in accordance with the MPSA
between the Parent Company and the DENR, the ECC issued by the DENR, applicable laws and
regulations and applicable industry standards; and (ii) in accordance with the existing development
plan of the Parent Company.
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MPSA represents Mineral Production Sharing Agreement No.032-95-IV (1st MPSA) and No.055-
96-IV (2nd MPSA) entered into with the Government of the Republic of the Philippines through
DENR.

 Pay the Group royalty with the following terms:

i. two-and-a-half percent (2.5%) of the value of the aggregates sold;

ii. a lump-sum amount of P300 million after the approval by the DENR of the increase in the
maximum extraction rate from 2.7 MMT to 5.25 MMT per annum; and

iii. the royalty amount to be adjusted/indexed annually to the weighted average price of the
aggregates sold on an arms’ length pricing.

 Maintain the MPSA in good standing, as well as complete and accurate records relating to the
quarrying operations.

As at December 31, 2010, the Group has received the full settlement of P300 million lump sum amount
in accordance with the agreed payment terms as follows:

In millions

Upon approval by the DENR of the Operating Agreement with respect to the 1st
MPSA on April 3, 2008 - collected on June 2, 2008 232.00

Balance in three equal installments upon approval by the DENR of the
Operating Agreement with respect to the 2nd MPSA on January 13, 2009:

First installment 22.67
Second installment 22.67

Total received as at December 31, 2009 277.34
Third installment (collected on January 15, 2010) 22.66

300.00

The balance of the lump sum royalty was subjected to interest of 9.25% per annum. Interest on the
installment of the lump sum royalty in 2010 amounts to P1.06 million (2009 - P1.63 million).

Out of the P232 million lump sum payment received in 2008, the amount of P11.67 million was
recognized as royalty fee for that year and the balance of P220.33 million, of which P20 million
represents current portion in 2008, was recognized as unearned lump sum royalty fee to be amortized
over the life of the Operating Agreement. Due to subsequent fulfillment of conditions contained in the
Amendment to the Agreement, the total unearned lump sum royalty fee at the end of 2008 of P220.33
million was recognized as royalty fee in 2009.

As at December 31, 2009 and 2008, the lump sum portion of royalty fee recognized by the Group
amounted to P288.33 million and P11.67 million, respectively.

Basic royalty fee of 2.5% of the value of the aggregates sold amounted to P16.93 million in 2010 (2009 -
P14.36 million; 2008 - P7.66 million).
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(ii) Asset Purchase Agreements

Effective June 1, 2008, the Group entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with BAAC, in which the
Group agreed to sell, transfer and convey to BAAC, and BAAC agreed to purchase and acquire from the
Group, all the Group’s rights, title and interest in and to certain operating assets, which includes
properties and equipment, on an “As Is Where Is” basis for P217.6 million.

The Group received P214.4 million pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement. The amount of purchase
price was adjusted to reflect the actual return of certain assets to the Group, originally part of the pool
of assets per Operating Agreement.

On October 29, 2008, the Group and BAAC executed a Second Asset Purchase Agreement which
provided for the terms of sale on an “As Is Where Is” basis, of additional quarry equipment for P3.6
million, and inventories and finished goods for P24.6 million.

The two Asset Purchase Agreements resulted in a gain of P66.5 million in 2008.

(iii) Share Purchase Agreement

Effective June 1, 2008, a Share Purchase Agreement was executed by and between the Consortium and
the Group, in which the Group agreed to sell, transfer and convey to the Consortium, and the
Consortium agreed to purchase and acquire from the Group, all the rights, title and interest of the
Group in BAAC for P628 million. The sale resulted in a gain of P369 million, net of related capital gains
and other business taxes in 2008.

(iv) Trademark License Agreement

On June 2, 2008, in relation to the Operating Agreement, the Group and BAAC entered into a
Trademark License Agreement granting BAAC a license to use the following trademarks and
servicemarks for the period and under the terms and conditions set out in the said agreement:

 “Concrete Aggregates Corporation and Device”;
 “Blue Sand”;
 “Blue Sand and Device”;
 “Blue Rock”;
 “Blue Rock and Device”; and
 “Blue Sand Vibro and Devic.

(v) Transition Services Agreement

A Transition Services Agreement was executed by the Group and BAAC on June 2, 2008, which sets out
the transition assistance services by certain key personnel for a specified period of time from the
Closing Date.
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Amendment to the Agreement

On June 2, 2008, the Group and the Consortium executed an Amendment to the Agreement dated
January 18, 2008 providing among others:

 In the event that approval by the DENR, through Mines and Geosciences Bureau, of the Operating
Agreement with respect to second MPSA has not yet been obtained as at June 1, 2008, the
Consortium shall withhold the amount of P68 million from the lump sum amount of P300 million.

 The Consortium shall pay the amount of P68 million upon receipt of written notice from the Group
of such DENR approval.

(b) Long-Term Mine Extraction Contract

On December 13, 2005, the Group entered into a mine extraction contract with Omegan Construction
and Development Corporation (OCDC) for the latter to provide drilling, blasting, hauling and delivery
services for the Group’s quarrying operations. The contract provides, among others, the supply of
equipment complement to implement the extraction work, loading of aggregates and tailings handling
for the Group. In addition, OCDC shall assist the Group in performing community service such as
dredging of rivers and waterways, loading of filling materials for donation to various communities,
grading of parks and playgrounds, etc., for which the Group shall pay equipment rental to OCDC at the
agreed rate per metric ton of materials delivered to the crushers or any designated dumpsite. The term
of the contract shall be for a period of five years, to start retroactively from May 5, 2004 and shall end
on May 4, 2009.

In connection with the contract, in 2008 and 2007, total extraction costs amounted to P45.08 million
and P102.41 million, freight and handling charges amounted to P5.11 million and P11.72 million, and
total rental charges amounted to P4.45 million and P12.95 million, respectively. These are included as
part of cost of sales and selling expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

In relation to the Agreement executed by the Group with the Consortium (Note 23 (a)), the mine
extraction contract with OCDC was terminated in 2008.

Note 24 - Contingencies

The Group is involved in various legal proceedings incidental to its normal business activities. The
Group’s management and legal counsel are of the opinion that the amount of the ultimate liability with
respect to these matters would not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, financial
performance or liquidity of the Group.














